

# RIIKKA ELINA JUHAKOSKI Hip Osteoarthritis; Risk Factors and Effects of Exercise Therapy



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences



#### RIIKKA ELINA JUHAKOSKI

# *Hip Osteoarthritis; Risk Factors and Effects of Exercise Therapy*

To be presented by permission of the Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland for public examination in the Auditorium of Mikkeli Central Hospital, Mikkeli, on Friday, June 7<sup>th</sup>, at 12 noon.

> Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences Number 166

Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine Kuopio University Hospital, Faculty of Health Sciences, University of Eastern Finland

Institute of Clinical Medicine, Faculty of Health Science, Institute of Biomedicine / Physiology University of Eastern Finland

Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, Mikkeli Central Hospital Mikkeli 2013

#### Kopijyvä Oy Kuopio 2013

Series Editors: Professor Veli-Matti Kosma, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Pathology Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Hannele Turunen, Ph.D. Department of Nursing Science Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Olli Gröhn, Ph.D. A.I. Virtanen Institute for Molecular Sciences Faculty of Health Sciences

Professor Kai Kaarniranta, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Clinical Medicine, Ophthalmology Faculty of Health Sciences

Lecturer Veli-Pekka Ranta, Ph.D. (pharmacy) School of Pharmacy Faculty of Health Sciences

> Distributor: University of Eastern Finland Kuopio Campus Library P.O. Box 1627 FI-70211 Kuopio, Finland http://www.uef.fi/kirjasto

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-1103-2 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-1104-9 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

Author's address:	Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine Mikkeli Central Hospital MIKKELI FINLAND
Supervisors:	Docent Jari Arokoski, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine Kuopio University Hospital Institute of Clinical Medicine Faculty of Health Sciences University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
	Professor Timo Lakka, M.D., Ph.D. Institute of Biomedicine / Physiology University of Eastern Finland KUOPIO FINLAND
Reviewers:	Professor Markku Hakala, M.D., Ph.D. School of Medicine University of Tampere TAMPERE FINLAND
	Docent Kaija Puustjärvi-Sunabacka, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine Helsinki University Hospital HELSINKI FINLAND
Opponent:	Professor Jaro Karppinen, M.D., Ph.D. Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine Oulu University Hospital University of Oulu OULU FINLAND



Juhakoski, Riikka Elina Hip Osteoarthritis; Risk Factors and Effects of Exercise Therapy University of Eastern Finland, Faculty of Health Sciences Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences Number 166. 2013. 74 p.

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-1103-2 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-1104-9 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

#### ABSTRACT

The causes of hip osteoarthritis (OA) appear to be heterogeneous with genetic, environmental and lifestyle-related risk factors influencing the development of the disease. Hip OA causes pain and disability, reducing the quality of life, and there is no treatment to prevent or cure it after the onset of development. Therefore, the reduction of pain and improvement in physical function are important outcomes when evaluating the effective treatment strategy for hip OA.

The aim of the study was to identify independent risk factors for developing hip OA in a prospective population-based study with a follow-up period of up to 22 years. An assessment was made of the short-term and long-term effectiveness of exercise-based rehabilitation in reducing pain, maintaining physical function and limiting direct health care costs attributable to hip OA in a two-year randomized controlled trial. A further aim was to identify predictors of pain and disability in hip OA. Objective and subjective physical function were investigated with a battery of physical function tests and questionnaires, including Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) and RAND 36-Item Health Survey (RAND-36).

Heavy manual work and musculoskeletal injuries were found to predict the development of hip OA in the 22-year follow-up study. Factors explaining and predicting disability and pain in hip OA are multidimensional and no single factor was found to be more important than any other. Higher educational levels, absence of knee OA and comorbidities, supervised exercise training and habitual physical activity predicted a lower prevalence of pain and a better functional status in patients with hip OA.

Exercise therapy for hip OA had no significant effect on self-reported pain or general physical health, but it slightly improved self-reported physical function in individuals with hip OA. Based on these findings, the clinical importance of exercise therapy remains uncertain and it is unclear whether exercise training translates into true improvement in physical performance or reduced health care costs.

National Library of Medicine Classification: WE 860, WL 704

Medical Subject Headings: Exercise Therapy/economics: Osteoarthritis, Hip; Pain/rehabilitation; Risk factors; Treatment Outcome



Juhakoski, Riikka Elina Lonkkanivelrikon riskitekijät ja terapeuttisen harjoittelun vaikutukset lonkkanivelrikkopotilaan toimintakykyyn Itä-Suomen yliopisto, terveystieteiden tiedekunta Publications of the University of Eastern Finland. Dissertations in Health Sciences N:o 166. 2013. 74 p.

ISBN (print): 978-952-61-1103-2 ISBN (pdf): 978-952-61-1104-9 ISSN (print): 1798-5706 ISSN (pdf): 1798-5714 ISSN-L: 1798-5706

#### TIIVISTELMÄ

Lonkan nivelrikon syyt ovat moninaisia. Taudin syntyyn vaikuttavat geneettiset sekä ympäristöön ja elintapoihin liittyvät tekijät. Lonkan nivelrikko aiheuttaa kipua ja rajoittaa toimintakykyä eikä sen etenemistä kyetä estämään tai parantamaan enää taudin syntymisen jälkeen. Sen vuoksi, arvioitaessa hoidon vaikuttavuutta, lonkan nivelrikon hyvän hoidon tunnusmerkit tulisi olla elämänlaadun parantaminen lievittämällä kipua ja ylläpitämällä fyysistä toimintakykyä.

Tutkimuksen tavoitteena oli löytää lonkan nivelrikkoa ennustavia tekijöitä 22 vuotta kestäneellä väestötutkimuksella ja arvioida terapeuttisen harjoittelun vaikutuksia kipuun ja toimintakykyyn sekä lonkan nivelrikon aiheuttamiin välittömiin terveydenhuollon kustannuksiin satunnaistetulla kontrolloidulla tutkimuksella. Lisäksi pyrittiin löytämään menetelmiä, joilla kivun lisääntymistä ja toimintakyvyn heikkenemistä olisi mahdollista ennustaa taudin edetessä. Fyysistä toimintakykyä tutkittiin objektiivisin ja subjektiivisin menetelmin toimintakykytesteillä ja kyselyillä kuten Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) ja RAND 36-Item Health Survey (RAND-36) mittareilla.

Väestöpohjaisen 22-vuotisen seurantatutkimuksen perusteella lonkan nivelrikon kehittymistä ennustaviksi tekijöiksi osoittautuivat raskas työn fyysinen kuormitus sekä tuki- ja liikuntaelinten vammat. Lonkan nivelrikossa toimintakykyyn ja kipuun vaikuttavat monet tekijät, joista mikään ei näyttänyt olevan muita tärkeämpi nivelrikon oireiden etenemistä tai toimintakyvyn laskua ennustava tekijä. Korkeampi koulutustaso, polvinivelrikon ja muiden sairauksien puuttuminen, ohjattu terapeuttinen harjoittelu ja säännöllinen liikunta ennustivat vähäisempää kipua ja parempaa toimintakykyä.

Terapeuttinen harjoittelu ei merkittävästi vaikuttanut potilaiden lonkkanivelen kiputuntemuksiin tai fyysiseen terveydentilaan liittyvään elämänlaatuun, mutta potilaiden oman arvion mukaan se saattoi jonkin verran parantaa heidän fyysistä toimintakykyään. Näiden havaintojen perusteella terapeuttisen harjoittelun merkitys on epävarma ja on epäselvää, saadaanko siitä todennettavaa hyötyä tai säästöjä terveydenhoidon välittömissä kustannuksissa lonkkanivelrikkoa sairastavilla potilailla.

Yleinen Suomalainen asiasanasto: riskitekijät; harjoittelu; nivelrikko; lonkka, kipu; toimintakyky.



To my family



### Acknowledgements

This study was carried out at the Department of Physical and Rehabilitation Medicine, Mikkeli Central Hospital, between 2005-2013.

I wish to devote my warmest gratitude to:

Docent Jari Arokoski M.D., Ph.D. who has played an outstanding role throughout the study. He gave me enthusiastic and endless support during the entire period. Under his guidance this thesis was published despite many challenges faced all of which he helped me to overcome. Professor Timo Lakka, M.D., Ph.D., my second supervisor, for his outstanding expertise and positive support enabling me to complete the study.

My warmest appreciation goes to the official reviewers of the study, Docent Kaija Puustjärvi-Sunabacka, M.D., Ph.D. and Professor Markku Hakala M.D., Ph.D., for thoroughly acquainting themselves with the work, their constructive criticism and their exceptional advice which considerably improved the thesis.

A special word of appreciation goes to Seppo Tenhonen, M.D. for being an excellent teacher and practical advisor. I am deeply grateful to Antti Malmivaara, M.D., Ph.D., and Markku Heliövaara, M.D., Ph.D. for their expert knowledge, help and contribution to the original articles. I admire their endless enthusiasm on public health issues and research.

Other co-authors of the original publications, Tapio Anttonen, M.D., and Timo Kauppinen, M.D., are thanked for all their contributions, help and practical advices and Olli Impivaara, M.D., Ph.D., Heikki Kröger, M.D., Ph.D., Paul Knekt, Ph.D., and Hanna Lauren, M.D. for giving me the possibility to join their research group.

I owe my deepest gratitude to physiotherapists Outi Kuurne, Jaana Merivirta and Veli Huopalainen for the physiotherapeutic evaluation of patients and Anita Maisonen, Merja Ollikainen and Maija Lensu for exercise group supervisions as well as Tuija Viherkorpi for organising the exercise rehabilitation.

Nicholas Theakston is deeply thanked for proof reading and amending the English in this thesis.

For statistical advice I thank Leila Karjalainen, Marja-Leena Hännilä and Vesa Kiviniemi.

I am grateful to all the patients who participated and gave their commitment to this study. I am also indebted to Riitta Saarelainen for secretial work, Lea Hirvonen for helping me searching for the references and Karita Ihalainen for her very kind and helpful assistance during this work.

I express special thanks to my parents Elli and Esko Kiljala and for my dear sisters Leena, Liisamari and Kaisu, for their love and continuous support. I am most deeply grateful to my children Ronja, Robert, Katariina and Felix for their enormous support and unconditional love throughout these years.

Finally, I owe my warmest thanks to my partner Mauri who has encouraged me to complete my study and brought lots of love and happiness into my life.

This project has been financially supported by an EVO grant from Mikkeli Central Hospital and the Finnish Cultural Foundation.

Mikkeli, May 2013

Riikka Juhakoski



## List of the original publications

This dissertation is based on the following original publications:

- I Juhakoski R, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Kröger H, Knekt P, Lauren H, Arokoski JPA. Risk factors for the development of hip osteoarthritis: a population-based prospective study. *Rheumatology (Oxford) 2009; 48 (1): 83-87.*
- II Juhakoski R, Tenhonen S, Anttonen T, Kauppinen T, Arokoski JP. Factors affecting self-reported pain and physical function in patients with hip osteoarthritis. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2008; 89 (6): 1066-73.*
- III Juhakoski R, Tenhonen S, Malmivaara A, Kiviniemi V, Anttonen T, Arokoski JPA. A pragmatic randomized controlled study of the effectiveness and cost consequences of exercise therapy in hip osteoarthritis. *Clin Rehabil 2011; 25 (4):* 370-83.
- IV Juhakoski R, Malmivaara A, Lakka TA, Tenhonen S, Hannila M-L, Arokoski JPA. Determinants of pain and functioning in hip osteoarthritis a two-year prospective study. *Clin Rehabil 2013; 27 (3): 281-7.*

The publications were adapted with the permission of the copyright owners.



## Contents

1 INRODUCTION	1
2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	3
2.1 Pathogenesis of hip osteoarthritis	3
2.2 Epidemiology and risk factors of hip osteoarthritis	5
2.2.1 Prevalence of hip osteoarthritis	5
2.2.2 Risk factors	5
2.2.2.1 Age	5
2.2.2.2 Gender and hormonal factors	6
2.2.2.3 Genetic factors and race	6
2.2.2.4 Congenital disorders	6
2.2.2.5 Overweight and obesity	7
2.2.2.6 Occupation	7
2.2.2.7 Sporting activities	8
2.2.2.8 Joint injury	8
2.3 Symptoms and signs of hip osteoarthritis	12
2.3.1 Symptoms	12
2.3.2 Clinical findings	13
2.3.3 Radiological findings	13
2.3.4 Criteria for diagnosis	14
2.4 Treatment of hip osteoarthritis	15
2.4.1 Conservative treatment	15
2.4.1.1 Patient education	15
2.4.1.2 Weight loss	15
2.4.1.3 Physical therapy	16
2.4.1.4 Occupational therapy	16
2.4.1.5 Drug treatment	16
2.4.1.6 Exercise therapy	16
2.4.2 Surgical treatment	17
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	21
4 METHODS	23
4.1 Study population and study design	23
4.1.1 The prospective population-based study (Article I)	23
4.1.2 Randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)	25
4.1.2.1 Subjects	25
4.2 Assessment of risk factors and outcome measures	27
4.2.1 Assessments in the prospective population-based study (Article I)	27
4.2.1.1 Assessment of leisure time physical activity	27
4.2.1.2 Assessment of physical workload	27
4.2.1.3 Assessment of injuries	27
4.2.1.4 Assessment of other risk factors	28
4.2.1.5 Diagnosis of hip osteoarthritis	28
4.2.2 Assessments in randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)	29
4.2.2.1 Assessment of physical activity	29

4.2.2.2 Assessment of depression and life satisfaction	30
4.2.2.3 Assessment of other possible risk factors	30
4.2.2.4 Assessment of pain	30
4.2.2.5 Assessment of physical function	30
4.2.2.6 Radiological assessment	31
4.2.2.7 Assessment of the use of medication	31
4.2.2.8 Assessment of health care costs	31
4.3 Statistical methods	32
4.3.1 The prospective population-based study (Article I)	32
4.3.2 Randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)	32
5 RESULTS	35
5.1 The prospective population-based study (Article I)	35
5.1.1 Characteristics of subjects	35
5.1.2 Definition of risk factors	35
5.2 The randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)	
5.2.1 Characteristics of subjects at baseline	
5.2.2 Factors affecting self-reported pain and disability at baseline (II)	
5.2.3 Effectiveness of exercise therapy (III)	41
5.2.4 Cost consequences (III)	42
5.2.5 Predictors of pain and physical function in two-year follow-up (IV)	42
6 DISCUSSION	49
6.1 The prospective population-based study (Article I)	49
6.1.1 Methodological considerations	
6.1.2 Main findings	
6.1.3 Clinical implications	50
6.2 Randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)	50
6.2.1 Methodological considerations	50
6.2.2 Main findings	51
6.2.3 Clinical implications	53
7 CONCLUSIONS	55
8 REFERENCES	57
APPENDICES:	
ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS (I-IV)	
EXERCISE PROGRAMME	

## Abbreviations

ACR	American College of	OA	Osteoarthritis
	Rheumatology	OARSI	Osteoarthritis Research
ANCOVA	Analysis of covariance		Society International
BDI	Beck depression inventory	OR	Odds ratio
BMI	Body mass index	RAND-36	RAND 36-Item Health Survey
CI	Confidence interval	ROM	Range of motion
GP	General practitioner	SD	Standard deviation
HRQOL	Health related quality of life	SF-36	The 36-item Short-Form
K-L	Kellgren-Lawrence		Health Survey
	osteoarthritis grading scale	THA	Total hip arthroplasty
LS	Life satisfaction scale	TUG	Timed Up & Go test
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging	VAS	Visual analogue scale
6-MWT	6-minute walk test	WOMAC	Western Ontario and
10-MWT	10-meter walk test		McMaster Universities
NSAID	Non-steroidal anti-		Osteoarthritis Index
	inflammatory drug		

### 1 Introduction

Osteoarthritis (OA) is the most common form of joint disease worldwide, with an ageassociated increase in both incidence and prevalence (Oliveria et al. 1995). It is therefore one of the most common causes of physical disability in the elderly population (Dawson et al. 2004). OA is characterised by degeneration of articular cartilage, joint space narrowing, pain and disability (O'Reilly and Doherty 2003). It has been estimated that hip OA affects approximately 7%-25% of individuals in the over 55 year group and is more common among males than females (Felson et al. 2000). The social and economic impact of OA is substantial and consequently affects the quality of life at the individual level (Reginster 2002). In 2003 the annual cost of hip joint replacement operations in Finland totaled nearly 70 million  $\in$  without taking into account post-surgery rehabilitation (Remes et al. 2007). Today in Finland 6% of all disability pension payouts can be attributed to OA. In addition it is estimated that the direct and indirect costs of OA in Finland are nearly 1 billion  $\notin$  per year (Heliövaara and Paavolainen 2008). The number of people with OA disability is expected to double by the year 2020 (Bradley 1991, Elders 2000), thereby further increasing the already substantial economic impact of OA.

It is important to understand potential determinants and modifiable risk factors of hip OA in order to develop efficient prevention strategies for hip OA or the treatment of its consequences both at the individual and population levels. The causes of hip OA appear to be heterogeneous with genetic, environmental and lifestyle-related risk factors influencing the development of the disease (Felson 1998). Ageing is the most consistent risk factor for the development of hip OA in both males and females (Heliövaara et al. 1993b, Tepper and Hochberg 1993, Karlson et al. 2003). Twin studies have found a strong genetic link to hip OA (Lanyon et al. 2000, MacGregor et al. 2000). An individual may have an inherited predisposition to the disease, without any symptoms of OA (Spector and MacGregor 2004) but is only likely to develop it when a biomechanical insult e.g. joint injury occurs (Felson et al. 2000, Lievense et al. 2003). OA can either be a consequence of an abnormal mechanical load on a healthy joint or of a normal mechanical pressure on unhealthy cartilage tissue (Nuki and Salter 2007). Moderate evidence exists for the association of hip OA with obesity (Lievense et al. 2002) or sporting activities (Lievense et al. 2003) or a history of physical load work (Lievense et al. 2001, Jensen 2008) or physical load leisure activities (Vingård et al. 1997). Several studies also advocate that injury is a major risk factor (Heliövaara et al. 1993b, Tepper and Hochberg 1993, Cooper et al. 1998, Lau et al. 2000). However, most of these studies regarding the potential risk factors of hip OA have been cross-sectional (Tepper and Hochberg 1993, Lau et al. 2000) or at their best prospective, with a short follow-up period (Teperi et al 1993, Cooper et al. 1998, Lau et al. 2000).

The natural history of OA is poorly understood and there is no preventive treatment or cure after the onset of development (Brandt et al. 2006). Therefore focus on the consequences of hip OA such as reduction of pain and improvement in physical function and quality of life are important in the evaluation the most effective treatment strategy. According to evidence-based recommendations for the management of OA, exercise is a commonly included as an effective treatment for patients with lower limb OA (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010). The American College of Rheumatology (ACR) subcommittee on OA guidelines, the Osteoarthritis Research Society International (OARSI) Group and the Consensus of a Multidisciplinary Guideline Development Group (MOVE Consensus) have all concluded that strength training and aerobic exercise can both reduce pain and improve function and health status in patients with hip OA (Hochberg et al. 2012, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010, Roddy et al. 2005).

However, these recommendations are based on a very low level of scientific evidence and many unanswered questions remain concerning the long-term benefits of treatment, adherence to the exercise programme as well as the overall cost-effectiveness of this approach.

The aim of this doctoral thesis was to identify potential risk factors for hip OA and to evaluate their roles in its etiology in a population-based 22-year follow-up study. Another purpose of the thesis was to assess the short-term and long-term effectiveness of exercisebased rehabilitation in reducing pain, maintaining physical function and limiting direct costs to health care systems attributable to hip OA during a two year randomized controlled trial.

### 2 Review of the literature

#### 2.1. PATHOGENESIS OF HIP OSTEOARTHRITIS

The hip joint is a synovial joint formed by the articulation of the rounded head of the femur and the cup-like acetabulum of the pelvis. The hip joint is reinforced by five ligaments, of which four are extracapsular and one is intracapsular. The strong but loose fibrosus capsule of the hip joint permits the hip joint to have a large range of motion (ROM) and jet support the weight of the body, arms and head. Both joint surfaces are covered with a strong but lubricated layer called articular hyalinen cartilage. The cartilage is composed of four distinct zones, characterised by chondrocytes and collagen fibers. Chondocytes are responsible for synthesising the cartilage extracellular matrix. The extracellular matrix is composed of collagen (10 to 20%), proteoglycans (10 to 20%) and water (65 to 80%). The viscoelastic behavior of cartilage is dependent on the water binding properties of the matrix proteinpolysaccarides (Sharma and Berenbaum 2007).

OA is a condition that represents a pathological imbalance of degenerative and regenerative processes of joint structures. Any consideration of a pathologic process of osteoarthritis begins with articular cartilage, but ultimately the disease affects the whole joint, including cartilage, subchondral bone, synovium and periarticular soft tissues (Brandt et al. 2006, Goldring and Goldring 2007) (Figure 1).

Biochemically OA can be seen as a process where the deterioration of the extracellular matrix starts to predominate over cartilage repair activities (Goldring and Goldring 2007). In early stages of OA both the degenerative and regenerative enzymes of cartilage and associated genes are activated in the chondrocytes. Later on the proteolytic breakdown predominates, when proteolytic enzymes such as proteoglycans, collagens and metalloproteinases (e.g. stromelysin and collagenase) increase and participate in the degradation of them (Lammi et al. 2008). The metalloproteinases are activated by inflammatory cytokines, such as interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$ , nitric oxide and synovial inflammatory transmitters. Adipokine hormones e.g. leptin and adiponectin have been identified as a regulatory factors in inflammation and arthritis (Neumann et al. 2011, Comez et al. 2011). Leptin and adiponectin are found to be synthesized by white adipose tissue. Recent studies show that leptin and adiponectin are possible links between obesity and OA, since these are increased when obesity occurs and these hormones induce the production of matrix matalloproteinases, proinflammatory cytokines and nitric oxide in chondrocytes (Vuolteenaho et al. 2009, Koskinen et al. 2011,). Structurally the decrease of the proteoglycan concentration in cartilage, collagen network disorganisation and softening are signs of cartilage injury and OA (Buckwalter 1995, Arokoski et al. 2000).



Figure 1. The pathophysiological findings involved in hip OA.

OA can either be a consequence of an abnormal mechanical load on a healthy joint or of a normal mechanical pressure on unhealthy cartilage tissue (Nuki and Salter 2007). The highly specific microscopic anatomy and physiology of articular cartilage can be disrupted by small, superficial injuries, even without immediate cartilage loss. Superficial damage will injure chondrocytes, limit their metabolic capacity for repair and lead to decreased proteoglycan concentration, increased hydration and altered fibrillar organisation of collagen. This leads to biochemical consequences which eventually manifests themselves as OA; joint structural changes and pain (Nuki and Salter 2007, Goldring and Goldring 2007).

Structural, biochemical and biomechanical changes in the subchondral bone are a major characteristic of OA (Arokoski et al. 2000). Structural alterations manisfest themselves as osteophyte formation and subchondral sclerosis, which are important in radiological diagnosis. Subchondral bone changes not only occur during the final stage of OA but also at the onset of the disease; possibly even prior to cartilage degradation becoming evident. This early phase bone loss due to extensive remodeling may precede later observed sclerosis. A biochemical and biomechanical mutual interaction between subchondral bone and the overlaying cartilage is nowadays considered attributable to the progressive character of OA (Radin and Rose 1986). On the other hand, osteophytes that are considered to develop early in the disease and are included in the first measurement of Kellgren-Lawrence (K-L) OA grading system may also develop later in the joint degenerative process.

OA is not considered a classic inflammatory arthropathy due to the lack of systemic manifestations of inflammation. However, OA is frequently associated with signs and symptoms of inflammation including joint pain, swelling and stiffness leading to a significant functional impairment and disability (Felson 2006). Synovial inflammation is a factor that is likely to contribute to deregulation of chondrocyte function, leading to an imbalance between the catabolic and anabolic activities of the chondrocyte in remodeling the cartilage extracellular matrix (Loeser et al. 2012).

Hip OA can also lead to changes in periarticular muscles (Liikavainio and Arokoski 2009). The cross sectional area of the pelvic or thigh muscles is significantly lower in the more severely affected hip compared to the hip on the better or healthy side of subjects with hip OA (Arokoski et al. 2002, Rasch et al. 2007, Grimaldi et al. 2009). In hip OA there is a selective atrophy of type II muscle fibers in comparison to healthy subjects (Amaro et al. 2007). Several mechanisms have been proposed as being involved in muscle weakness in OA: firstly the disuse atrophy of muscles due to joint pain; secondly reflex inhibition of

muscles moving the affected joint; thirdly incapacity to fully activate the muscle resulting in decreased force production (Hurley 1999, Mizner et al. 2005).

Despite numerous identified predisposing factors and the involvement of mechanics, the exact pathogenesis is still the subject of debate and research. Specifically, the very early changes are largely unknown because they cannot be studied easily in humans. This is attributable to the changes appearing well in advance of OA diagnosis in clinical practice.

#### 2.2 EPIDEMIOLOGY AND RISK FACTORS OF HIP OSTEOARTHRITIS

#### 2.2.1 Prevalence of hip osteoarthritis

Although OA may affect any joint in the body, it most commonly affects the knee followed closely by the hip (Felson 1990). Radiographic primary hip OA is in approximately 5% to 10% of the adult population (Dagenais et al. 2009). However, due to heterogeneous radiographic methods of diagnosis and divergent criteria, the overall estimates of radiographic primary hip OA vary from 0.9% to 27.0% in different populations (Dagenais et al. 2009).

The prevalence of radiographic hip OA has been best studied in population surveys. The Framingham Study advocates that radiographic hip OA occurs in 3-4 per cent of individuals aged 63 and over (Felson 1988). Symptomatic OA is generally defined as frequent joint pain and structural alterations in radiography. A recently published population based survey, assessing the prevalence of symptomatic and radiographic hip OA in a multiregional sample in France, estimated that hip OA prevalence according to age class ranged from 0.9% to 3.9% for men and 0.7% to 5.1% for women (Guillemin et al. 2011).

According to the Finnish Health 2000 Survey, the age-adjusted prevalence of clinically diagnosed hip OA was 5.7% in males and 4.6% in females (Arokoski et al. 2007). The prevalence was consistently higher in males except in the 75 to 84 year age group where it was the same for both sexes. In men the prevalence of hip OA ranged from 0.5% in the youngest age group to 39.8% in the oldest (those aged 85 years or more) and in women from 0.4% in the youngest to 24.5% in oldest. The age-adjusted prevalence of hip OA showed negative correlation with years of education in both genders. Among the Finnish population the prevalence of hip OA has not been changed during 20 years (Heliövaara et al. 1993a, Arokoski et al. 2007), whereas the prevalence has decreased in middle-age groups (from 45 to 64 years) and increased in the oldest (those aged 85 years or more).

#### 2.2.2 Risk factors

Although the pathogenesis of hip OA remains partly unknown, there are several risk factors that may predispose to OA (Felson 1998). Hip OA is considered a multifactorial disease that involves interplay of several risk factors e.g. age, gender, genetics, dysplasia, mechanical work load, obesity, joint injury or sporting activities. Epidemiological studies indicate that OA of the hip frequently occurs in the absence of OA in other large joints. This suggests that local biomechanical factors are important in its pathogenesis (Cushnaghan and Dieppe 1991, Ecker et al. 2007, Wright et al. 2009). The details of the results from previous epidemiological studies concerning the risk factors for hip OA are presented in Table 1. The most consistent risk factors are considered to be age, genetics, congenital disorders of the hip joint, overweight or obesity, occupational and sporting related overload of the hip joint and joint injuries.

#### 2.2.2.1 Age

The prevalence of hip OA correlates strongly with age and it starts to increase in middle age in both genders (Heliövaara et al. 1993b, Arokoski et al. 2007, Dagenais et al. 2009, Guillemin et al. 2011). Geographic or ethnic differences in prevalence estimates have also

been reported (Yoshimura et al. 1998, Inoue et al. 2000, Nevitt et al. 2002) but discrepant estimates of prevalence mainly result from variable definitions of hip OA.

According to the Finnish Health 2000 Survey, the prevalence of radiographic and clinical hip OA increases with age in both males and females (Arokoski et al. 2007). A clear trend towards increasing prevalence of radiographic hip OA with advancing age from 35 to 85 years was also confirmed in a recent systematic review (Dagenais et al. 2009). The mean increase in the prevalence of radiographic hip OA was 1.2% for each 5-year age group from 35 to 85 years.

#### 2.2.2.2 Gender and hormonal factors

The prevalence of hip OA in females increases after menopause (van Saase et al. 1989, Felson et al. 2000, Guillemin et al. 2011). This observation has contributed to the theory that decreased oestrogen levels play a role in OA pathogenesis (Felson 1988). Some cross-sectional studies have found that oestrogen replacement therapy is associated with lower rates of hip or knee OA (Nevitt et al. 1996, Spector et al. 1997). However, the inverse relationship between oestrogen use and OA has been inconsistent in epidemiological studies (Nevitt et al. 1996, Spector et al. 1997, Sandmark et al. 1999, Jacobsen et al. 2004). Data from the First National Health and Nutrition Survey (NHANES I) in the United States suggest that etiological factors associated with hip OA may differ between males and females and differ between unilateral and bilateral hip OA (Tepper and Hochberg 1993). A recent population-based survey in France confirmed that the prevalence of symptomatic hip OA increases with age in both genders (Guillemin et al. 2011). The age-related prevalence of symptomatic hip OA of radiographic K-L grade  $\geq$  2 ranged from 0.9% to 3.9% in men and from 0.7% to 5.1% in women.

#### 2.2.2.3 Genetic factors and race

Genetic factors appear to influence the risk of developing primary hip OA. Twin studies have shown a strong contribution of genetic factors in the development of hip OA (Lanyon et al. 2000, MacGregor et al. 2000). Similar to many common complex diseases and disorders, the genetic background of OA has not yet been characterised. The manner in which genes specifically influence the incidence and progression of OA and associated disability is difficult to ascertain from the available data. The genetic background of OA is likely to be polygenic with multiple gene variants each of them having a small effect (Valdes et al. 2011). Different genetic associations are seen in European descent compared with Asian populations. In European descendants three genetic variants have been associated in OA among Caucasians map to the GDF5 gene and the MCF2L gene. GDF5 is a chondroprotective growth factor and MCF2L is associated with neurotrophin regulated cell motility of neurons and thus potentially affecting nociception (Kerkhof et al. 2010). More specific outcome measures of OA are required to assist with a better understanding of the effects of genetic factors on different stages of joint degradation.

OA varies across racial groups, including differences in prevalence and radiographic features and differences in pain and function (Allen et al. 2010). Regarding the prevalence of OA, prior studies indicate hip and OA is less common among Chinese individuals compared with U.S. Caucasians (Newitt et al. 2002) and that self-reported OA may be less common among Hispanics than Caucasians in the United States (Allen 2010).

#### 2.2.2.4 Congenital disorders

Childhood disorders of the hip joint, such as congenital hip dysplasia, Legg-Calve-Perthes disease or slipped capital femoral epiphyses, are modifiable risk factors, if identified early (Harris 1986, Lane et al. 2000). In adults evidence of hip dysplasia in X-rays is strongly associated with prevalent hip OA (Jacobsen 2004). In the Rotterdam Study (Rejma et al. 2005)

examined males and females of at least 55 years of age with no signs of radiographic OA of the hip at baseline. This study found that acetabular dysplasia was a strong independent determinant of incident radiographic OA of the hip amongst the elderly population. There is also evidence that mild acetabular dysplasia (McWilliams et al. 2010) and femoroacetabular impingement as a consequence of abnormal contact between the acetabular rim and femoral head-neck junction, resulting in damage to the chondral surface and labrum, can lead to the development of OA of the hip (Beck et al. 2005, Ganz et al. 2008).

#### 2.2.2.5 Overweight and obesity

Excessive weight or body mass index (BMI) strongly increases the risk of developing symptomatic and radiographic knee OA (Spector et al. 1994, Cooper et al. 2000). Being overweight adds higher loads on weight-bearing joints and could thereby contribute to the development of hip OA. However, the relation of excessive weight or obesity with hip OA is not as well defined as the association of them with knee OA. Several cross-sectional (Olsen et al. 1994, Flugsrud et al. 2006, Franklin 2009) and cohort studies (Tepper and Hochberg 1993, Flugsrud et al. 2002, Karlson et al. 2003, Järvholm et al. 2005, Liu et al. 2007) have indicated an increased risk of hip OA linked to obesity. A number of others have failed to support the association (Saville and Dickson 1968, Lau et al. 2000). A recent metaanalysis (Jiang et al. 2011) displayed that the risk of hip OA increases with BMI and a doseresponse relationship exists. A 5-unit increase in BMI was associated with an 11% increased risk of hip OA. It has been suggested that obesity not only increases the risk of radiographic hip OA but also symptomatic hip OA. In the population-based Mini-Finland Health Survey, BMI was directly proportional to the prevalence of bilateral hip OA. The survey showed that individuals with a BMI > 35 had a 2.8 times higher risk of having bilateral hip OA than those with a BMI < 25, while the association of BMI with the prevalence of unilateral hip OA was much weaker (Heliövaara et al. 1993b).

A population-based prospective cohort study assessed incidences of knee and hip joint replacements due to OA in relation to different body mass measures including body weight, BMI, waist circumference and percentage of body fat (Locmander et al. 2008). BMI was associated with a much higher relative risk than waist circumference or percentage fat. This suggests that being overweight is a particularly important risk factor for developing knee and hip OA. BMI, adipose tissue mass and central adiposity (waist circumference and waist to hip ratio) were directly related to the risk of primary knee and hip joint replacements for OA, whereas waist circumference was directly associated only with the risk of knee replacement (Wang et al. 2009).

#### 2.2.2.6 Occupation

The association between heavy manual work and an increased risk of radiographic hip OA has been demonstrated in several cross-sectional studies amongst males (Tyyppö 1985, Jacobsson et al. 1987, Croft et al. 1992, Olsen et al. 1994, Coggon et al. 1998, Cvijetic et al. 1999, Lau et al. 2000) and females (Vingård et al. 1997, Tyyppö 1985) as well as in prospective studies among males (Vingård 1991, Thelin and Holmberg 2007) and in both sexes (Flugsrud et al. 2002). A number of occupations, such as construction work, coal mining, fire fighting, abattoir work, ballet dancing and farming have been associated with an elevated risk (Andersson 1984, Andersson et al. 1989, Vingård 1991, Croft et al. 1992). Additionally the association of recurrent exposure to manual load handling with radiographic and clinical hip OA was assessed in a Finnish population based cross-sectional study in the Health 2000 Survey (Kaila-Kangas et al. 2011). The research group concluded that employment history involving the manual handling of loads of over 20kg was strongly associated with hip OA in both genders aged 30 to 97. The problem became apparent after approximately 12 years exposure in all age groups except the youngest (from 30 to 39 years). Researchers suggest that one explanation for the result might be that hip OA takes a long

time to develop and that young people do not generally choose to work in physically demanding occupations. Moreover, the study indicated that hip OA is much more common among working-aged males than females. A recently published systematic review also summarised that individuals who had been involved in occupational heavy lifting had a significantly increased risk of hip OA in 12 of 14 studies with different study designs. As many as 13 of the 14 studies displayed a significantly increased risk of hip OA among farmers (Jensen 2008). When completely removing substantial physical labour is an unrealistic goal, minor alterations in ergonomics, training in correct lifting techniques and the use of mechanical handling equipment may reduce occupation related OA risk.

#### 2.2.2.7 Sporting activities

Most studies support the view that regular physical activity does not increase the risk of development or progression of hip OA (Lane et al. 1998). However, elite athletes have been shown to have a 2 to 3 fold higher risk of radiologic OA of the knees and hips (Tveit et al. 2012). This suggests that the duration rather than frequency of training is important (Spector et al. 1996). The results of other studies evaluating the risk of OA among professional athletes indicates that male athletes have higher rates of hospital admission for ankle, knee or hip OA than matched healthy male controls and OA changes commonly manifests itself in athletes over 65 years of age (Kujala et al. 1994).

A recent prospective cohort study concluded that long-distance skiers have a higher risk of subsequent arthroplasty of the knee and hip due to OA than individually matched controls, who were not participating in long-distance ski races during the study period of 10 year (Michaelsson et al. 2011). Moreover, one systematic review concluded that there is moderate evidence for a direct association between sporting activity and hip OA (Lievense et al. 2003), but that the evidence tends to weaken due to the heterogeneity of the study populations and outcome measures. Impact of physical activity on the etiology and prognosis of OA also seems to depend on the type, intensity and components of physical activity ity (Michaelsson et al. 2011).

#### 2.2.2.8 Joint injury

Joint injuries in sports significantly increase the risk of knee OA (Felson 1990, Roos 2005). A similar trend for hip injuries leading to radiographic hip OA has also been reported in cross-sectional studies (Cooper et al. 1998, Lau et al. 2000). There is only one cohort study showing the direct association between hip traumas and an increased risk of radiographic hip OA (Tepper and Hochberg 1993). In a retrospective analysis of the Mini-Finland Health Survey individuals with a history of traumatic lower-limb injury had a 2.1-fold risk of having unilateral hip OA, diagnosed either clinically or radiographically, and a 1.5-fold risk of having bilateral hip OA (Heliövaara et al. 1993b).

Research group, publication vear	Subjects	Age	Diagnostics	Risk factors statistically signifi- cantly associated with hip OA	Possible risk factors not associated with hip OA
Cross-sectional st	tudies				
Coggon and co- workers 1998	611 subjects (66% women) listed for THA and individually matched con- trols	45-91 years, mean 70 vears	Radiographic (Listed for THA)	Work load (for men) Lifting over 50kg loads over 10 years or longer	Work load (women) Occupational activities other than lifting
Cooper and co- workers 1998	611 subjects (66% women) listed for THA and individually matched con- trols	45-91 years, mean 70 years	Radiographic (Listed for THA)	Previous hip injury	Heberden's nodes BMI
Croft and cowork- ers 1992	167 male farmers and 83 controls (office workers)	60-76 years	Radiographic	Work load Farming	No
Cvijetic and co- workers 1999	593 subjects (50% women)	over 45 years, mean 63 years	Radiographic and clinical	Work load 80 % of the time in the standing posi- tion (women) Jobs with high physical strain (men)	No
Flugsrud and co- workers 2006	1 200 000 men and women and 1 152 006 individually matched controls attended a screening for tuberculosis	18-67 years	ТНА	BMI	No
Franklin and co- workers 2009	1 473 subjects (59% women) THA = 927 TKA = 431 THA + TKA = 115	64-93 years, mean 74 years	THA or TKA	BMI (TKA for men and women) BMI (THA for men)	BMI (THA for women)
Heliövaara and coworkers 1993	7 217 men or women	30 years or over	Radiographic and clinical	BMI Work-load	No
Jacobsen and coworkers 2005	3568 subjects (63% women)	20-91 years, mean 61 years	Radiographic	Age Hip dysplasia	BMI Smoking
Jacobsson and coworkers 1987	85 men listed for THA and 267 individually matched controls	mean 73 years	Radiographic (Listed for THA)	Work load Farming Heavy labor Heavy lifting	Injury
Kaila-Kangas and coworkers 2011	6 556 subjects (53% women)	mean 52 years	Clinical	Work load Manual handling of loads over 20 kg	No

Table 1. Studies on risk factors of hip OA.

6

Lau and cowork- ers 2000	796 subjects (75% women) hip (138) and knee (658) OA and 796 individually matched controls	Not in- formed	Radiographic	Injury Lifting heavy weight Climbing stairs frequently BMI (highest quartile)	Smoking Sport activities
Olsen and co- workers 1994	239 men with THA and 302 individually matched controls	50-70 years	ТНА	Work load Sport activities Overweight	No
Roach and co- workers 1994	99 men and 233 individually matched	mean 68 years	Radiographic	Work load	No
Tyyppö and co- workers 1985	919 subjects (55% women)	16-86 years, mean 57 years	Radiographic	Work load	Work load
Vingård and co- workers 1997	230 women with THA	50-70 years	ТНА	Work load	No
Yoshimura and coworkers 2000	114 subjects (90% women) listed for THA	45 years or over, mean 64 years	Radiographic (Listed for THA)	Lifting heavy loads	Obesity
Cohort retrospect	tive studies				
Flugsrud and co-	50 034 subjects (50%	46-67	THA	Work load	Leisure time physical activ-
workers 2002	women)	years,		BMI	ity
	ioliow-up & years	years			
Gelber and co- workers 1999	1180 men median follow-up 36 years hip and knee OA	20-49 years	Radiographic	No	BMI
Spector and co- workers 1996	81 women (ex-elite ath- letes) hip and knee OA and 977 individually matched controls	40-65 years	Radiographic	Weight-bearing sport activities	No
Vingård and co- workers 1991	250 217 men (83%) Hip or knee OA	Not in- formed	Hospital care for OA of hip or knee	Heavy physical work load	No
Cohort prospectiv	ve studies	_			
Järvholm and	320 192 men	15-67	THA or	BMI	No
coworkers 2005	Follow-up 11 years	years	TKA	Age	
Karlson and co- workers 2003	121 701 women Follow-up 6 years	30-55 years	ТНА	Age BMI	Alcohol intake Smoking Leisure time physical activ-
					ity Postmenopausal hormone
					use Oral contraceptive use

					ital status e iily income cation	œ
No	No	No	No	о Х	Sex Mari Race Fam Educ	WHF
Dysplasia	BMI	BMI, waist circumference, waist-hip ratio, weight, percentage of body fat	Intensive exercise at a level required to complete multiple and fast long- distance skiing races)	Occupation Farming	Hip trauma Obesity Age	Weight, BMI, fat mass, percentage body fat , waist circumference
Radiographic	THA or TKA	THA or TKA	THA or TKA	Radiographic THA	Radiographic	THA or TKA
65 years and over	50-69 years	45-73 years, mean 58	15 years and over, mean 39	Not in- formed	55 years and over	27-75 years
9 704 women	490 532 women Hip or knee OA Follow-up 2,9 years	27 960 men or women Hip or knee OA Follow-up 11 years	53 983 subjects (10% women)	<ol> <li>220 men (farmers) controls (1) 1130 rural non- farming men controls (2) 1087 urban men</li> </ol>	2 358 men and women	39 023 men or women
Lane and cowork- ers 2000	Liu and coworkers 2007	Lohmander and coworkers 2009	Michaelsson and coworkers 2011	Thelin and co- workers 2007	Teperi and co- workers 1993	Wang and co- workers 2009

Total hip arthroplasty (THA), Total knee arthroplasty (TKA), Osteoarthritis (OA), Body mass index (BMI), Fat mass (FM).

Ξ

#### 2.3 SYMPTOMS AND SIGNS OF HIP OSTEOARTHRITIS

#### 2.3.1 Symptoms

The main symptoms of hip OA are pain, stiffness and altered function (van Baar et al. 1998). Pain is the most dominant symptom in hip OA. Initially symptoms are typically aching in nature, related to joint use, and relieved by rest. As OA progresses, pain may become more persistent and occur at rest and at night. Interference with restorative sleep may further aggravate the pain severity trough associated fatigue and lack of well-being. Typically the gradual progression of pain is observed. Several studies have confirmed that the association between radiologic OA and clinical symptoms is contradictory (Arokoski et al. 2004, Summers et al. 1988, Barker et al. 2004, Hall et al. 2006, Szebenyj et al. 2006). Pain, caused by hip OA, correlates strongly with psychological variables such as anxiety and depression (Davis et al. 1992, O'Reilly et al. 1998).

True hip pain is most commonly felt in the groin but can also present in the buttock and often down the anteromedial tight to the knee (Lesher et al. 2008). Nearly half of patients with radiological features of OA have no symptoms and vice versa (Hannan et al. 2000). Since articular cartilage is aneural, early changes do not produce clinical signs unless innervated tissue becomes involved. This is one reason for the late diagnosis of OA.

In comparison with other joints, such as the knee, pain from the hip is difficult to define, for three possible reasons (Birrell et al. 2005): first, the joint is not superficial, so pain arising from structures in and around of the hip joint can be felt across a broader region; second, pain from structures outside the hip, for example the low back, the groin and the urinary and the genital tracks, may also be associated with pain in the hip region; third, it is unclear whether there is a specific topographical area that can usually be distinguished as 'the hip'. In contrast to inflammatory arthritis, with its prolonged morning stiffness and worsened pain in the morning, hip OA pain and stiffness tends to worsen as the day progresses.

The mechanism of pain production in OA remains unclear (Felson 2005, Hochman et al. 2011, Mease et al. 2011). However, the OA process may affect all intracapsular and periarticular tissues of the synovial joint leading to various causes of pain. Pain during the weight bearing is typically felt maximally deep in the anterior groin (femoral nerve), but may be referred over a wide area including the lateral thigh and buttock (sciatic nerve), anterior tight and knee (obturator nerve) and as far down the leg as ankle (O'Reilly and Doherty 2003). Articular cartilage itself is aneural but there is rich sensory innervation in other joint tissues. Raised intraosseus pressure, presumably secondary to venous obstruction, is a suggested major cause of nocturnal pain in large OA joints (Arnoldi et al. 1975). Peripheral and central sensitisations have been suggested as two of the underlying mechanisms of pain in OA (Felson 2005, Arendt-Nielsen et al. 2010). Continuous and intense nociceptive input from the OA-damaged knee joint is assumed to play an important role in pain mechanisms in OA (Felson 2005). Pain in hip OA seems to deteriorate slowly, with limited evidence of worsening after three years of follow-up (van Dijk et al. 2006).

Patients report symptoms that limit their day-to-day activities, such as stair climbing, walking and doing household chores (van Baar et al. 1998). The explanation for disability, functional loss and muscle weakness is not always clear. The symptoms of hip OA diminish the patient's physical activity (Dekker et al. 2009, Veenhof et al. 2012) and quality of life (O'Reilly and Doherty 2003).

The stiffness in hip OA is termed "inactivity stiffness" and contrasts with the prolonged "morning stiffness" of rheumatoid arthritis. Stiffness in hip OA lasts less than 30 minutes and occurs when the patient gets up and bears weight after a prolonged period of immobility (Hooper and Moscowitz 2007).

Among self-reported measurement tools, assessing the level of symptoms caused by hip OA, the Western Ontario and McMaster Universities Osteoarthritis Index (WOMAC) (Bellamy et al. 1988) and Lequesne (Lequesne 1991) questionnaires are the most used.

WOMAC is a well-studied instrument with long established reliability and validity, including the use of the subscales separately. It consists of three subscales; pain, stiffness and function. The visual analogue scale (VAS) version allows the patients to estimate the symptoms by marking an X on a 100 mm long line (the beginning of the line = no symptoms, the end of the line = worst possible symptoms). The Lequesne Index is a 10-question survey with 5 questions pertaining to pain or discomfort; one question dealing with maximum distance walked and 4 questions about activities of daily living. The total questionnaire is scored on a 0 to 24 scale. Lower scores indicate that there is less functional impairment.

#### 2.3.2 Clinical findings

The visual observation of gait while the subject walks on a level surface shows an apparent decreased weight bearing on the involved leg, which may already be a signal of hip OA (Hasan and Schuscelt 2010). A patient will often walk with a limp and wadding Trendelenburg gait (a pelvis drop on either side during the stance phase of gait due to muscle weakness of the abductors of the hip) may be evident during the later stages. Additionally anterior groin palpation tenderness, lateral to the femoral pulsation, is possible.

Although hip pain is common in the community, population studies have shown that it has only a weak relationship with hip OA (Lawrence et al. 1989). Restriction of the ROM has been proposed as a useful diagnostic tool (Cibulka and Threlkeld 2004) and hip joint ROM has shown to be a sensitive marker of the radiographic severity of OA (Birrell et al. 2001). The hips of the OA subjects have shown a 13% - 52% restriction of ROM compared to those of healthy subjects (Arokoski et al. 2004). The largest relative differences are in this order: extension; internal rotation; abduction; external rotation; adduction and flexion (Arokoski et al. 2004). Typically this is accompanied by pain with internal rotation of the hip joint. A fixed flexion, external rotation deformity is the most usual end-stage symptom, with compensatory exaggerated lumbar lordosis and pelvic tilt (O'Reilly and Doherty 2003).

Adequate muscle strength seems to be an important factor in maintaining the ability to perform daily living activities in hip and knee OA (Liikavainio and Arokoski 2009). Patients with hip OA have reported a reduction in isometric and isokinetic muscle strength of pelvic and thigh muscles. This manifests itself in significantly lower abduction, adduction, and flexion muscle strength (pelvic and thigh muscles) in comparison with the healthy age matched controls (Arokoski et al. 2002). In this case muscle strength of the OA subjects was 68-87% of that in the controls. Rasch et al. (2007) showed in their studies, that a substantial loss of strength and mass in the affected limb exists compared to the contra lateral (healthy) side in patients with unilateral hip OA. This finding contributed to the reduced ambulatory capacity of OA patients (Rash et al. 2007). Concurrently, Sueta et al. (2007) demonstrated a marked side to side difference with decreased muscle mass, maximal muscle strength, neuromuscular activation and rapid muscle force characteristics on the arthritic side compared to the healthy side in hip OA.

#### 2.3.3 Radiological findings

In clinical practice, frontal, anteroposterior radiograph of the pelvis demonstrates the degree of hip joint OA. Other hip radiograph protocols include the anterior-posterior radiograph centered on one hip and the hip profile of Lauenstein (Adam et al. 2008).

The cardinal radiographic features of OA include the formation of osteophytes on the joint margins or in ligamentous attachments, the narrowing of the joint space associated with sclerosis and cysts of subchondral bone and the altered shape of the head of the femur (Goker et al. 2000, Lequesne et al. 2004). The identification of OA on plain x-rays means that

there is already full thickness cartilage loss and even bone-on-bone contact. These radiographic findings occur relatively late in the course of OA.

There are several classification systems for assessing the severity of hip OA (Rejman et al. 2004). Classically the radiological classification criteria of hip OA in epidemiological studies have relied on the characteristic radiographic changes described by Kellgren and Lawrence in 1958. Based on the results of more recent studies, K-L grade appears to remain a useful OA definition (Kellgren and Lawrence 1957, Reijman et al. 2004). Radiographic K-L grading of the severity of hip OA is based mainly on narrowing of the joint space and bone changes as follows: grade 0 as normal; 1 as possible narrowing of joint space and possible osteophytes; 2 as definite narrowing of joint space and definite osteophytes; 3 as marked narrowing of joint space, definite osteophytes and some deformity of femoral head and 4 as gross loss of joint space, large osteophytes and marked deformity of femoral head.

New physical methods for early diagnosis of OA are under intensive development (Vasara et al. 2005, Hannila et al. 2007, Jurvelin et al. 2008). Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI) has emerged as an excellent modality for detection of OA when the plain radiographs indicate no disease or mild disease and the patient's symptoms are out of keeping with the apparent severity of disease (Hall and Tyler 1995). MRI can detect large focal articular cartilage lesions that cannot be detected on plain film (Boegard et al. 1998, Cibere 2006). Articular cartilage lesions of the hip are not accurately diagnosed by standard MRI alone differing from the lesions of the knee. Part of the reason is that the cartilaginous surfaces of the femoral head and acetabulum are not well differentiated. Moreover, the articular cartilage thickness is extremely thin, measuring only 1 to 2 mm in diameter compared to 7 mm in the retropatellar cartilage (Watanabe et al. 2002). However, MRI can be a more accurate diagnostic tool in cartilage pathology as an alternative to arthroscopy. Schmidt et al. (2003) were able to detect chondral abnormalities with fairly accurate sensitivity and specificity. Traction on the hip during MRI could also improve cartilage visualisation (Nakanishi et al. 1999). Special techniques such as a water-excitation 3D double-echo steady-state sequence have also been shown to provide increased conspicuity of cartilage lesions (Knuesel et al. 2004). However, this technique is not routinely used in clinics.

#### 2.3.4 Criteria for diagnosis

The diagnosis of hip OA can be radiographic, clinical or based on a combination of these two (Arokoski et al. 2012). The American College of Rheumatology (ACR), when diagnosing hip OA has preferred the combined radiographic and clinical criteria for use (Arokoski et al. 2012, Altman et al. 1991). According to the ACR the clinical criteria for hip OA consists of pain in the hip joint region within the previous month and radiographic joint changes evident in radiographs (Altman et al. 1991) (Table 2).

*Table 2.* Combined clinical (history, physical examination, laboratory) and radiographic classification criteria for osteoarthritis of the hip, tradition format of ACR\*.

Hip pain and At least 2 of the following 3 features ESR < 20 mm / hour Radiographic femoral or acetabular osteophytes Radiographic joint space narrowing (superior, axial, and / or medial)

<sup>\*</sup>This classification method yields a sensitivity of 89% and a specificity of 91%. ESR = erythrocyte sedimentation rate.

However, many authors have suggested use of a clinical method (not focusing to radiographic changes) to diagnose hip OA in epidemiological studies (Altman 1991, Birrell et al. 2001, Arokoski et al. 2000, Heliövaara et al. 1993a). The studies recommended using clinical variables, such as pain location or duration, hip ROM, age or aggravating movement. Among the different clinical criteria, diminishing hip ROM is the most common component used to indicate the presence of hip joint OA. This is because the hip joint ROM has shown to be a sensitive marker of the radiographic severity of OA (Arokoski et al. 2004).

#### 2.4 TREATMENT OF HIP OSTEOARTHRITIS

There is no cure for hip OA or treatment proven to slow OA progression. The main treatment goal for patients with hip OA, therefore, is considered to be reducing joint pain and physical disability. Treatment of hip OA is a combination of pharmacological, non-pharmacological and surgical modalities (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010) (Figure 2). Physiotherapy and occupational therapy are regarded to be important components of any therapeutic program for OA. These non-pharmacological treatments are as important as drug treatment in hip OA (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010). Pharmaceutical treatment should not be used as the sole treatment of OA (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010). The main indication for hip arthroplasty is pain that cannot be controlled by conservative means.

#### 2.4.1 Conservative treatment

#### 2.4.1.1 Patient education

Patient education and weight loss are generally used as primary therapeutic approaches in the treatment of patients with primary OA (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010). As part of a comprehensive treatment plan, subjects with hip OA need to receive information on the disease. This gives the patient a coping strategy to remain active despite pain and disability. Books, videos, pamphlets and newsletters can be used as educational material. It has also been shown that periodic telephone support interventions by lay personnel promoting self-care for patients with OA is associated with relief of joint pain and improved physical function and the authors concluded that telephone contact is cost-effective intervention in OA (Rene et al. 1992, Weinberg et al. 1993).

#### 2.4.1.2 Weight loss

Body weight has shown to be a risk factor for functional decline in OA of the hip (Dekker et al. 2009). Treatment guidelines (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010) recommend different weight loss programs similar to those used in knee OA to improve joint pain and function. However there are no controlled studies on the effects of weight loss on hip OA symptoms.

Bariatric surgery is currently the only evidence-based approach to marked weight loss in obese individuals (Buchwald et al. 2004). However, there is currently limited literature to evaluate the role of bariatric surgery in hip and knee OA. A recent systematic review demonstrated that bariatric surgery, as part of a comprehensive weight management strategy with subsequent marked weight loss may lead to improved hip and knee pain and function in obese patients with hip or knee OA (Gill et al. 2011). However, this review identifies the need for randomized controlled trials to clarify the role and indicators for supporting treatment by bariatric surgery.

#### 2.4.1.3 Physical therapy

Many physical modalities i.e. different thermal (e.g. cryotherapy, thermotherapy (ultrasound and short wave diathermy) and electromagnetic modalities [e.g. Transcutaeous Electrical Nerve Stimulation (TENS) or laser) have been used for the alleviation of symptoms in knee and hip OA. However, these treatment methods appear to have no benefit for people with hip OA (Arokoski et al. 2012).

#### 2.4.1.4 Occupational therapy

Occupational therapy plays a central role in the management of hip OA patients with functional limitations (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010). The occupational therapist may be able to improve the patient's ability to perform daily activities and to teach them the principles of energy conservation and joint protection (Minor 1999, Hochberg et al. 1995). Environmental modifications and adjustments of workstation furniture at home and in the workplace have been evaluated. Different assistive devices i.e. raised toilet seats, grab rails / wall bars, seat cushions, a riser to adjust seat height and dressing stick appear to be useful in helping patients to cope with routines of daily living.

#### 2.4.1.5 Drug treatment

Paracetamol is shown to be effective in the treatment of hip OA pain (Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon et al. 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010, Arokoski et al. 2012). It has also shown to improve pain at rest and to be better tolerated than nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) (Bradley 1991). To avoid side-effects the dose of paracetamol > 3g / day should not be exceeded (Zhang et al. 2010). If the efficacy of paracetamol is not adequate, NSAIDs are recommended. NSAIDs (conventional and COX-2 selective) are effective and widely used to reduce pain and to improve function in patients with hip OA (McCormack 2011, Bingham et al. 2011). Due to serious cardiovascular and gastrointestinal side effects of all the NSAIDs, they should be used in the lowest effective dose and their long-term use should be avoided, if possible (Gabriel et al. 1991, Graham et al. 2005). Opioids are conditionally recommended in patients who have had an inadequate response to initial therapy. Opioid analgesics are recommended for patients who are either not willing to undergo or had contraindications for total joint arthroplasty and have failed to respond to medical therapy (Arokoski et al. 2012).

#### 2.4.1.6 Exercise therapy

Current international guidelines for the treatment of hip OA recommend therapeutic exercise, land or water-based, to be included in management strategies (Arokoski et al. 2012, Hochberg et al. 2012, Vignon 2006, Zhang et al. 2008, Zhang et al. 2010). Exercise intervention aims to alleviate the structural and functional impairments that accompany the pathologies, rather than addressing the pathology itself. Currently, there is a lack of data to support the putative benefits of exercise programmes in relieving pain associated with hip OA (van Baar et al. 1999, Pisters et al. 2007, Hernandez-Molina et al. 2008, Fransen et al. 2009, Fransen et al. 2010, McNair et al. 2009, Escalante et al. 2010). Most randomized controlled trials include patients with both knee and hip OA. It is difficult to differentiate between these two entities and often patients with hip OA tend to be a minority in the sample (van Baar et al. 1998, Hopman-Rock and Westhoff 2000, Foley et al. 2003, Hoeksma et al. 2004, Lin et al. 2004, Ravaud et al. 2004, Cochrane et al. 2005, Veenhof et al. 2006, Fransen et al. 2007, Hinman et al. 2007, Pisters et al. 2010). Only two randomized controlled trials published to date restricted recruitment to people with symptomatic hip OA (Tak et al. 2005, Fernandes et al. 2010). Tak et al. demonstrated a favorable and significant short-term effect of exercise on pain in hip OA and Fernandes et al. showed significant improvement in WOMAC physical function. The details of the results from previous randomized studies on the effects of exercise in hip OA are given in table 3.

Researchers have also stated that there has been a lack of detailed exercise programs specifically for patients with hip OA. Only one therapeutic program (Fernandes et. al. 2010) and one multimodal treatment program, including therapeutic exercises (Bennell et al. 2011), have been published.

A number of studies have compared the cost-effectiveness of pharmacological therapies for OA (Zabinski et al. 2001, Gillette and Tarricone 2003). In contrast to operative treatment of hip OA (total hip replacement), that has shown to be cost-effective (Jenkins et al. 2013), little is known about the cost-effectiveness of non-pharmacological or non-operative treatments, such as exercise, in hip OA.

#### 2.4.2 Surgical treatment

Surgical intervention is required when there is a significant level of pain that limits normal functional activities of daily living such as the ability to walk, stand, negotiate stairs, climb in and out of a car and put on shoes and socks. Surgical options depend on the diagnosis, severity of OA, patient age and activity level, patient occupation, patient medical health and patient expectations (Eskelinen et al. 2010). Surgical options are grouped to five main categories; arthroscopy, arthrodesis, osteotomy, pelvic osteotomy and hip joint arthroplasty (Moscowitz et al. 2007).

Arthroscopy is a less invasive tool to diagnose and treat hip pathology. Its indications include labral tears, capsular laxity, chondral injury and ligament tears avulsion. Less commonly they can include management of osteonecrosis, inflammatory synovial processes, infection and possibly early to mild OA (Kelly et al. 2003).

Osteotomies of the pelvis and / or femoral osteotomies can alter force transmission through the hip joint and thus potentially influence clinical symptoms and the course of the OA process. The underlying diagnoses in which one would consider an osteotomy include young patients with secondary OA from hip dysplasia and residual deformities from childhood conditions such as Perthes disease and slipped capital femoral epiphysis (Millis et al. 1996).

Total hip arthroplasty (THA) is considered to be one of the most beneficial surgical procedures on health-related quality of life that currently performed (Wiklund and Romanus 1991, Laupacis et al. 1993,). It has also shown to be cost-effective (Jenkins et al. 2013). There is no standard care randomized controlled trial for THA in existence. However, there are a large number of head to head comparisons between different types of prosthesis and uncontrolled follow up studies (Fizpatric et al. 1998, Faulkner et al. 1998). A systematic review of 118 uncontrolled follow-up studies identified that the percentage of patients free from pain at the end point ranged 43.2% (95% CI 34% to 49%) to 84.1% (95% CI 46% to 100%) depending upon the type of prosthesis (Fizpatric et al. 1998).

Marked improvements in physical function, social interaction, and over-all health have been demonstrated after THA (Laupacis et al. 1993). Different procedures of pre and postoperative physical therapy and rehabilitation programs have been evaluated to improve the outcome of surgery. There is little evidence to support the use of preoperative education over and above standard care to improve postoperative outcomes in patients undergoing hip replacement surgery, especially with respect to pain, function and length of hospital stay (McDonald et al. 2004). However, perioperative exercise programs are proven to improve functional recovery of subjective stiffness, hip strength and walking speed after THA (Wang et al. 2002, Gilbey et al. 2003). Also a postoperative home program of physical therapy or treadmill training with partial body-weight support is effective in improving hip muscle strength, walking speed and the functional activity (Sashika et al. 1996, Hesse et al. 2003).


*Figure 2.* Treatment guidelines for hip OA in Finland. The conservative non-pharmacological interventions should be recommended for all patients. Redrawn with modifications from Arokoski et al. (2012).

Research group, publication year	Subjects	Intervention	Follow-up, Outcomes Measures	Results
Van Baar and	201 men (21%) or	Individual program (12 weeks)	At 12 weeks:	Significant improvement of pain (VAS)
coworkers 1998	women (79%) (mean 68 vears)	GI = Land-Dased, 1/ X physiotherapy + GP care + education	Pain (VAS) Function IRGI	and observed disability and decreased use of paracetamol in the exercise
	Hip and knee OA	n = 98	Use of NSAID and Paraceta-	group
		G2 = Control (GP care + education),	mol	No significant difference of physical
		n = 102	Observed disability¤	function or use of NSAID
Hopman-Rock and	105 men (17%) or	Glass-based (6 weeks)	At 6 weeks:	Moderate effect on pain at 6 weeks, no
ZOWORKERS	Women (83%) (mean 65 vears)	GI = Land-Dased, b X equcation + evertice p - 56	Pain (VAS, IKGL subscale of	difference between the groups at b
0007	Hip and knee OA	G2 = Control. n = 49	Mobility IRGL	
			Quality of life (QOL) Objective assessments§	
Foley and cowork-	105 men (50%) or	Glass-based (6 weeks)	At 6 weeks:	No significant difference between the
ers	women (50%)	G1 = Aquatic, n = 35	Pain (WOMAC)	groups in WOMAC pain
2003	(mean 71 years)	G2 = Land-based, 18 x	Function (WOMAC, walking	Significant improvement in gym and
	Hip and knee OA	strengthening, $ROM$ , $n = 35$	speed and distance, quadri-	aquatic groups for objective function
		G3 = Control, n = 35	ceps strength)	tests
Hoeksma and	109 men (30%) or	Land-based (5 weeks)	At 29 weeks:	Significant improvement for HHS func-
coworkers	women (70%)	G1 = Land-based, 9 x strengthening	Pain (VAS)	tion in the manual therapy group
2004	(mean /2 years)	GZ = Manual therapy (manipulations	Function (HHS, SF-36)	Significant improvement for VAS pain
	нір ОА опіу	and mobilisation of hip joint) 9 x		up to 29 weeks
Lin and coworkers	106 men (13%) or women (87%)	Community-based aquatic exercise	At 12 month: Pain (WOMAC)	Modest improvement (small but signifi- cant) in measures of physical function
	(mean 60 vears)	G1 = Anilatic evercise programme p	Function (WOMAC battery of	Dain deneral mobility and flexibility
	Hip and knee OA	= 66	physical function tests)	
	-	G2 = Control n = 40	Stiffness (WOMAC)	
Ravaud and co-	2 957 men (24%)	G1 = Standardised tools (ST = as-	At 24 weeks:	No significant difference between the
workers	or women (76%) (mean 66 vears)	sessment of pain and functioning with the WOMAC). n = 220	Pain (WOMAC, VAS) Function (WOMAC)	groups in the outcome measures
	Hip and knee OA	G2 = Exercise, home-based, non su-		
		pervised, $n = 213$		
		G3 = ST + exercise, n = 213		
		G4 = Usual care, n = 221		
Tak	109 men (32%) or	Class-based (8 weeks)	At 8 weeks:	Significant improvement of HHS pain
and coworkers	women (b&%) (mean 68 vears)	GI = Land-Dased, & X strengtnening + home program n = 55	Pain (HHS, VAS) Function (GARS)	No significant airrerence of physical function
	Hip OA only	G2 = Control, n = 54		

Table 3. Randomized controlled trials concerning the effects of exercise in hip osteoarthritis.

Cochrane and	106 men (12%) or	G1 = Aduatic (12 months)	At 6 months:	Significant reduction in pain and im-
coworkers	women (88%)	G2 = Control	Pain (WOMAC)	provement in physical function
2005	hip/knee		Function (WOMAC)	-
Veenhof and co-	200 men or women	G1 = Behavioral graded activity	At 0, 13, 39 and 65 weeks:	Significant reduction in pain and im-
workers	(mean 65 years)	(BGA), $n = 97$	Pain (VAS, WOMAC)	provement in physical function in both
2006	Hip and knee OA	G2 = Usual care (exercise therapy and advice)	Function (WOMAC)	groups, no differences between the aroups
Fransen and co-	152 men (25%) or	Class-based (12 weeks)	At 12 and 24 weeks:	Significant improvement in WOMAC
workers	women (75%)	G1 = Aquatic, n = 55	Pain (WOMAC)	pain and function in both intervention
2007	(mean 70 years)	G2 = Tai Chi, n = 56	Function (WOMAC, SF-12	groups
	Hip and knee OA	G3 = Control, n = 41	(PCS))	Better improvement in physical per-
			Physical performance tests*	formance tests in aquatic therapy
			Psychological well being (DASS21, SF-12 (MCS))	group
Hinman and co-	71 men (32%) or	G1 = Aquatic exercise (6 weeks, twice	At 6 and 12 weeks:	Significant, but small improvement in
workers	women (68%)	a week, individually instructed pro-	Pain (VAS, WOMAC)	pain and physical function, strength
2007	(mean 63 years)	gram) n = 36	Function (WOMAC, muscle	and quality of life
	Hip and knee OA	G2 = Control (instructed to continue	strength)	
		their usual daily activities, no exer-	Quality of life (AQoL = As-	
		cise)	sessment of quality of life)	
		n = 35		
Fernandes and	109 men (46%) or	G1 = Patient education (PE), n = 54 G2 = PE + Land based 24 supervised	At 16 months	No significant difference for WOMAC
2010	(mean 58 vears)	dz = 1 + z $dz = 55$ $dz = 55$	Function (WOMAC, SF-36.	
	Hip OA only		PASE)	Significant improvement for WOMAC
			Stiffnéss (WOMAC)	physical function in the PE+SE group
				compared to PE only
Pisters and co-	200 men (23%) or	G1 = Behavioral graded activity (BGA)	At 3, 9, 15 and 60 months	No differences between the groups in
workers	women (//%)	with exercise therapy, 12 week period	Pain (WOMAC)	the long-term
7010		WITH A MAXIMUM L& SESSIONS OF DGA	FUNCTION (MACLAR QUESTION-	
	HIP and knee UA	n= 97 G2 = Usual exercise therapy n = 103	naire)	

tion Scale, SF-12 = The Short-Form From 12 Health Survey-version, PCS = Physical Component Summary, Computed Score of SF-12, DASS21 = Depression, Anxiety and Stress scale, MCS = Mental Component Summary, Computed Score of SF-12, SF-36 = The Short-Form Health Sur-N = Number, F = Female, G = Group, VAS = Visual Analogue Scale (0 - 100), IRGL = Influence of Rheumatic Diseases on General Health and Lifestyle, NSAID = Non-Steroidal Anti-Inflammatory Drug, ROM = Range of Motion, HHS = Harris Hip Score, GARS = Groningen Activity Restricvey, PASE = Physical Activity Score for Elderly.

§Range of motion, muscle strength, 20 m Walking Test, Timed Up and Go test, stair walking and "reaching for toes" in sitting position test.
\*Timed 50-foot Walk Test, Stair Climb Test and Timed Up and Go Test. ×Studying videos of patients' performance in a series of standardised tasks, which included walking, sitting down, bending and reclining.

# *3* Aims of the study

The first aim of this study was to examine potential risk factors hip OA. The second aim was to study factors associated with self-reported pain and physical function in patients with hip OA and to identify deeper determinants of disability and pain in hip OA. The third aim was to evaluate the effect of exercise training on pain, functional ability and healthcare costs in hip OA.

The detailed goals of the present series of studies can be outlined as follows:

- 1. To examine potential risk factors for hip OA in a 22-year prospective populationbased study (Article I).
- 2. To determine factors associated with self-reported pain and physical function in patients with hip OA. The potential factors assessed were age, education, depression, life satisfaction, smoking, duration of sports activities, radiologic score of hip OA, body mass index, comorbidites and duration of knee pain were also analysed (Article II).
- 3. To assess the short-term and long-term effects of strengthening, land-based exercise on hip OA taking into account both impairment (pain, functional limitations) and the financial burden (utilisation of medical and rehabilitation services and drug use) caused by this disease (Article III).
- 4. To assess factors related to OA in the prediction of pain and physical and mental function in a two year randomized controlled trial among patients with hip OA (Article IV).



# 4 Methods

## 4.1 STUDY POPULATION AND STYDY DESING

## 4.1.1 The prospective population-based study (Article I)

Between 1978 and 1980, a sample of 8000 people, representative of the Finnish population aged 30 years or over, was drawn from the population register and invited to participate in a cross-sectional study on health, the Mini-Finland Health Examination Survey (Aromaa et al. 1989). In brief, 7217 subjects (90 % of the sample) participated in the screening phase of the study, which comprised questionnaires, interviews and standard laboratory tests and clinical examination. The examination, methods and the diagnosis of hip OA have been described in detail elsewhere (Heliövaara et al. 1993a, Aromaa et al. 1989).

The questionnaires were checked and the interviews were performed by specially trained nurses. Information concerning educational level (years), smoking history (neversmoked, ex-smoker, smoker), alcohol intake (expressed as absolute alcohol in grams/week) and level of physical activity (inactive, irregularly active, regularly active) was elicited by means of standard questionnaires. Body height and weight were measured and BMI was calculated by dividing body weight (kg) by body height squared (m<sup>2</sup>). The subjects were asked to attend a clinical examination if they had experienced any difficulties in walking due to hip pain during the previous month or if they were found to have difficulty in performing the function tests, for example, when asked to squat or climb stairs. At the clinical examination stages 3-6 months later, specially trained physicians carried out the clinical examinations according to a standardised written protocol.

Between 2000 and 2001, another cross-sectional population study on health in a representative sample of Finnish men and women, the Health 2000 Survey, was conducted (Aromaa et al. 1989) (Figure 3). The Health 2000 Survey was designed to have the same protocol and assessments as the Mini-Finland Health Survey. All participants of the Mini-Finland Health Survey who were alive in 2000 and living in or around any of the five major regional cities were invited for re-examination in conjunction with the Health 2000 Survey. Altogether 1286 former participants were invited and 909 of these participated in the follow-up study. At baseline these subjects were on average 42 years old (SD 8 years, range 30 to 72 years). At follow-up their mean age was 63 years (SD 8 years, range 50 to 94 years). After exclusion of individuals with hip OA at baseline and those who were retired, 840 subjects remained (371 males and 469 females) and constituted the present study population (Figure 3). All participants signed a written consent and the study was approved by the Ethical Committee for Epidemiology and Public Health in the hospital district of Helsinki and Uusimaa, Finland.



*Figure 3.* The flow of activities during the Mini-Finland Health Survey and the Health 2000 Survey follow-up examination in 2000-01.

#### 4.1.2 Randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)

#### 4.1.2.1 Subjects

The subjects for the randomized controlled trial (120 males and females, aged from 55 to 80 years) were recruited from the city of Mikkeli, Finland, and the surrounding area. The recruitment was carried out primarily by an advertisement in a local newspaper (n=113) and to a lesser degree from specialists' clinics (n=2) or general practitioners' clinics (n=5) (Figure 4). The recruitment period took place from August 2005 to February 2006. The subjects were included in the study if they were 50 – 80 years of age and willing to participate in a study lasting for two years and they had unilateral or bilateral hip OA with K-L grade  $\geq 1$  (X-ray examination less than 3 years old) and pain experienced in the hip region (groin and lateral hip region) within the preceding month as indicated in the clinical criteria of the ACR (Altman et al. 1991). The exclusion criteria were THA, rheumatoid arthritis, cognitive impairment, a major surgical operation within the preceding six months in the lower limb or lower back, an acute or sub-acute lower back pain and cardiovascular or pulmonary disease or other chronic diseases that would prevent full participation in the training program.

Randomization was performed using the stratified block randomization procedure in order to balance subjects for gender and age (Figure 4). The number of strata was four (gender and age groups: 55-67 and 68-80 years) and patients were randomized into three blocks (block size n = 40). Prior to randomization to the combined exercise plus general practitioner group and to general practitioner group, a physician specialising in physical and rehabilitative medicine gave a 1-hour lecture on the basic principles of non-operative treatment of hip OA. The combined exercise and general practitioners care group received 12 supervised 45 minute exercise sessions once a week at baseline and four additional booster sessions at a time point one year later between the 12<sup>th</sup> and 13<sup>th</sup> month of follow-up. A primary care physiotherapist supervised exercise sessions consisting of 10 participants at a given time. Once the physiotherapist was certain that the participants had mastered the exercises, a recommendation was made to perform the specific exercises using the same protocol three times per week for two years. The exercise program was developed with common training principals, modified to suit patients of hip OA (Peloquin et al. 1999, Rogind et al. 1998). Each training session consisted of a warm-up session (marching in place and leg raises to the front, back and side) then strengthening and stretching sessions. The intensity of the strengthening exercises was the same for each participant. The subjects were recommended to perform the exercises with maximal effort in order to achieve the highest possible movement velocity. Stretching exercises were done to the point of mild tension and relaxation as the subject held the stretch. The participants in the combined exercise plus general practitioner care group also received normal routine care offered by their own general practitioner including analgesics and physiotherapy.

The participants in the general practitioner care group received standard care [normal routine care offered by their own general practitioner (analgesics and physiotherapy)].

Outcome variables were assessed at study entry and at 3, 6, 12, 18 and 24 month visits. The flowchart of the study is presented in Figure 4. The protocol was approved by Mikkeli Central Hospital Research Ethics Committee. All participants provided a written consent.



THA = total hip arthroplasty

Figure 4. Flowchart of the study.

## 4.2 ASSESSMENT OF RISK FACTORS AND OUTCOME MEASURES

## 4.2.1 Assessments in the prospective population-based study (Article I)

## 4.2.1.1 Assessment of leisure time physical activity

Leisure time physical activity was assessed by one item from a self-administered questionnaire. The subjects were classified into three categories as follows:

- 1. Little physical exercise: mostly reading, watching television, listening to the radio, going to the cinema or restaurants or doing tasks that do not require much physical exertion.
- 2. Irregularly physical exercise and/or in connection with some hobbies or as the main pastime or in addition to Group 1: fishing, hunting, gardening, going on family outings fairly regularly or taking some other form of exercise occasionally.
- 3. Regular physical exercise: as the main pastime or in addition to the Groups 1 and 2: some form of physical exercise regularly or fairly regularly, e.g. running, skiing, cycling, ball games, swimming, gymnastics, weight lifting regardless of whether these were done competitively, as a hobby or to improve physical condition.

## 4.2.1.2 Assessment of physical workload

Physical workload was assessed by one item from a self-administered questionnaire. The subjects were classified into six categories as follows:

- 1. Light sedentary work: mainly consisting of sitting at a table, by a machine, etc. and involving only light manual work, e.g. intellectual work, studying, sedentary office work, handling light objects.
- 2. Other sedentary work: mainly sedentary, but involves occasionally handling fairly heavy objects, e.g. industrial work on a production line.
- 3. Light work standing or moving: mostly standing work without cumbersome movements or moving from one place to another without carrying heavy burdens, e.g. shop assistant, crane operator, laboratory work, office work or teaching all requiring some mobility.
- 4. Medium-heavy work involving movement: involves a great deal of mobility and a certain amount of stooping down or carrying light objects, also work involving walking up and down stairs or fairly rapid motion over rather long distances, e.g. light industrial work, forest surveying, messenger work.
- 5. Heavy manual work: either mostly standing work involving regular lifting of light objects or lifting and carrying heavy objects, drilling, excavating, hammering etc., but with some sitting or standing, e.g. work in heavy engineering or manufacturing, construction work, using or assembling heavy tools, goods or parts, agricultural work using machines.
- 6. Very heavy manual work: mostly consisting of continuous or fairly continuous heavy movement, often done without interruption for long periods, e.g. carrying furniture, forestry work (felling trees), heavy non-mechanised agricultural work, fishing with heavy tackle, heavy construction work, manual excavation.

## 4.2.1.3 Assessment of injuries

Injuries sustained since the baseline examination were classified by a physician according to the 8<sup>th</sup> edition of the International Classification of Diseases on the basis of all available medical history, symptoms and clinical findings during medical examination. Musculoskeletal injuries were taken into account only if they had led to a permanent damage or to any continued impairment or complaint.

#### 4.2.1.4 Assessment of other risk factors

Age (years), sex, education (years), smoking (never smoked, ex-smoker, smoker) and alcohol intake (g/week) were assessed by a self-administered questionnaire. Body height and weight were measured and BMI was calculated by dividing body weight by body height squared (kg/m<sup>2</sup>).

## 4.2.1.5 Diagnosis of hip osteoarthritis

Specially trained physicians undertook the clinical examinations and diagnosed hip OA according to a standardised written protocol (Heliövaara et al. 1993a, Aromaa et al. 1989, Mäkelä et al. 1993). The clinical diagnosis of hip OA was made on the basis of disease histories, symptoms and clinical findings according to standard criteria (Table 4). The physicians were unaware of the potential predictor variables recorded at the baseline. For the present study the definite and probable diagnoses were combined into one diagnostic group. The sensitivity of the screening procedure for hip OA was 100% and a satisfactory agreement (kappa ( $\kappa$ ) 0.44) has been found between the clinical and radiological diagnosis of hip OA, used in the Mini-Finland survey (Heliövaara et al. 1993a). The agreement between definite clinical and radiological hip OA diagnosis (K-L grading scale 2 – 4) has been proved to be moderate (Kaila-Kangas et al. 2011). The  $\kappa$  value was 0.66 (95% CI 0.29 to 1.00).

In the Health 2000 Survey there were two physicians in each of the five regional field teams. The quality assurance program comprised four separate days during which the repeatability of the clinical diagnosis of hip OA was tested across the field teams. For this all together 173 volunteers, aged 45-82, were recruited from outside the survey sample. Two physicians always chosen from two separate field teams independently examined each subject. The  $\kappa$ -value for the repeatability was 0.49 (95% CI 0.09 – 0.90) for OA in the left hip (with a prevalence of 2.3% in both the first and second examinations). Similarly, the  $\kappa$ -value was 0.61 (95% CI 0.26 – 0.96) for OA in the right hip (with a prevalence of 2.3% and 2.9% in the two sets of examinations respectively).

*Table 4.* Diagnostic criteria for hip OA in the clinical examination of the Mini-Finland Health Survey and the Health 2000 Survey.

Hip osteoarthritis	
Definite	Probable
Documented history of previously diagnosed hip osteoarthritis or hip arthroplasty due to os- teoarthritis based on convincing findings.	Documented history of previous hip arthroplasty but no convincing evidence of diagnosed hipos- teoarthritis.
OR	OR
At least moderate restrictions in extension (limitation over five degrees) or in inner rotation (maximal range less than 20 degrees) or in outer rotation (maximal range less than 30 degrees), especially if combined with tenderness associ- ated with movement.	Typical symptoms of hip osteoarthritis AND either of the following (even in the absence of clinical findings in the current examination): • history of previously diagnosed hip osteoarthritis without documentation:
OR Slight restrictions in extension (limitation less than five degrees) or in inner rotation (maximal range 20–30 degrees) or in outer rotation (maximal range 30–40 degrees) or at least mod- erately restricted abduction-adduction (maximal range less than 50 degrees) AND either of the follow- ing: • documented history of previously diagnosed hip osteoarthritis but no grounds for the diagnosis given; • typical symptoms of hip osteoarthritis (stiffness, pain when moving after inactivity, pain during prolonged strain).	<ul> <li>documented previous diagnosis of hip osteoarthritis but no grounds for the diagnosis given.</li> <li>OR</li> <li>Clinical findings suggesting hip osteoarthritis (slightly restricted extension or inner or outer rotation or at least moderately restricted abduction-adduction) but no corresponding history.</li> </ul>

#### 4.2.2 Assessments in randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)

#### 4.2.2.1 Assessment of physical activity

Habitual conditioning physical activity was assessed using a leisure time physical activity history developed in the Kuopio Ischaemic Heart Disease Risk Factor (KIHD) Study (Lakka and Salonen 1987). Leisure-time physical activity was assessed from 12-month history modified from Minnesota Leisure Time Physical Activity Questionnaire (Taylor et al. 1978). The checklist included the most common leisure-time physical activities of middle-aged Finnish men and women, selected on the basis of a previous population study in Finland (Mälkiä et al. 1988). For each activity performed, the subjects were asked to record the frequency (number of sessions per month), average duration (hours and minutes per session) and intensity (scored as 0 for recreational activity, 1 for conditioning activity, 2 for brisk conditioning activity and 3 for competitive, strenuous exercise).

The intensity of physical activity was expressed in metabolic units (MET, or metabolic equivalents of oxygen consumption). One metabolic unit corresponds to an energy expenditure of approximately 1 kcal per kilogram of body weight per hour, or an oxygen uptake of 3.5 ml per kilogram per minute.

## 4.2.2.2 Assessment of depression and life satisfaction

The Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) with scores from 0 to 63 was used to assess possible depression. The cutoff point for clinically significant depression was set at 15 or over, which has been found to have good sensitivity (.835), specificity (.813), positive predictive value (.968) and negative predictive value (.419) in screening major depression (Beck 1961). Life Satisfaction (LS) scale was included to assess mental well-being. For each item participants chose the statement that best described their experience. The sum scores were analysed continuously or dichotomously (the satisfied croup had scores 4-11 and the dissatisfied group had 12-22) (Koivumaa-Honkanen 1998).

## 4.2.2.3 Assessment of other possible risk factors

Demographic characteristics collected included information on the sex, age, working status, duration of hip symptoms, presence of knee OA and/or knee pain, comorbidites and BMI.

## 4.2.2.4 Assessment of pain

Self-reported pain was assessed by using the visual analogue scaled format of the WOMAC OA index, designed specifically for people with hip or knee OA (Bellamy 1988). The visual analogue scaled version allows the patients to estimate the symptoms by marking an X on a 100 mm long line (the beginning of the line = no symptoms, the end of the line = worst possible symptoms). Subscale pain consists of 5 questions. The mean score of hip pain was generated by summing the coded responses and then dividing by the number of items.

## 4.2.2.5 Assessment of physical function

The specific physical function of self-reported diseases was determined by using the subscale of physical function of the WOMAC OA index that consists of 17 questions concerning physical function (Bellamy et al. 1988). The mean score of hip function was generated by summing the coded responses and then dividing by the number of items.

Self-reported generic physical function was determined using the physical function part of the RAND-36 questionnaire. The instrument contains exactly the same questions as the 36-item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) (Ware and Sherbourne 1992). The reliability and construct validity of the RAND-36, as a measurement of the health-related quality of life (HRQOL) in the Finnish general population, has been established (Aalto et al. 1999). The RAND-36 survey comprises 8 multi-item dimensions: general health, physical function, mental health, social function, vitality, bodily pain and physical and emotional role function. Each subscale ranges from 0 to 100 with higher scores indicative of a better HRQOL.

The passive hip flexion and the hip internal rotation ROM measurements were determined by using 2-arm goniometry (Arokoski et al. 2004). The passive movement, including stretching, was done until the firm or bony end was reached and/or discomfort limited the motion or compensatory movement occurred.

The objective physical function was measured by using a battery of tests performed in a random order (the six-minute walk test (6-MWT), the 10-meter walk test (10-MWT), the timed up & go test (TUG test), the sock test and the leg extensor power measurement) as follows;

The six-minute walk test, a reliable, valid and safe test, was used to quantify the participant's walking ability (Guyatt et al. 1985). The 6-MWT is measure of both gait speed and function as well as endurance exercise capacity. The score recorded was the total distance travelled (in meters) during 6 minutes.

The 10-meter walk test, a measure of gait velocity, was performed indoors on a 10-meter long track and the time spent to complete the walk, in seconds, was measured (Watson 2002).

The timed up & go test is a performance based measure, which is clinically well established as a measurement of function for knee OA (Podisalo and Richardson 1991).

Participants are asked to stand up from the chair, walk 3 m, turn, walk back and sit down quickly and safely. The time, in seconds, required to complete the test was recorded.

The sock test (Strand and Wie 1999), for evaluating activity limitation in patients with musculoskeletal pain, was used to describe the functional loss caused by hip OA. The patient is asked to sit on a high bench, with both hands, one on each side, grabbing the toes with the fingertips of both hands. The foot must not touch the bench and should be in the air at all times during the test. After testing each leg once, the patient is given a score on the most restricted performance (scores are valued from 0 to 3).

The extensor power of the lower limb was recorded by using the leg extensor power rig (Concept 2, dynamic strength training). The subject was seated in the upright position with arms folded. Comfortable extension of at the knee in conjunction with full depression of the foot pedal determined the seat position. The subject was instructed to depress the foot pedal as hard and as fast as possible. The measure of leg extensor power was expressed as relative power (absolute power divided by body weight (W/kg)). The one-week inter-day inter-tester and intra-tester reproducibility was 0.982 and 0.996, respectively (Robertson et al. 1998).

#### 4.2.2.6 Radiological assessment

The same physician specialising in radiology, analysed the degree of hip OA from anteroposterior radiograph of the hip joint. The mean age of the radiographs was  $8.7 \pm 10.3$ months. The K-L method of classification was used as described in page 14 (Kellgren and Lawrence 1957). The intra-rater reproducibility of K-L grading has been established as being high (.85 – .91) (Sun et al. 1997).

## 4.2.2.7 Assessment of the use of medication

The use of analgesic (paracetamol and weak opioid (tramadol, codeine)) and NSAIDs for the treatment of hip OA were assessed using patients' reports. The original drug use assessment was based on the following questions: 0 = not using, 1 = using, but less frequently than once a week, 2 = using 1 to 4 times a week, 3 = using 5 to 6 times a week, 4 = using daily (the dose of drugs taken was not evaluated). In the final analysis the drug use categories (drug use in a week) were computed as follows; 0 = not using, 1 = using, but less than daily, 2 = using daily.

#### 4.2.2.8 Assessment of health care costs

The evaluation of direct health care costs was assessed by recording the number of visits to a physician and the number of visits of physiotherapy due to hip OA, when not part of the intervention and the number of total hip replacements. The use of physiotherapy, again not as part of the intervention, was calculated as sum score including either exercise physiotherapy and/or physical therapy modalities (e.g. thermal modalities, transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, acupuncture) as follows; 0 = not using, 1= using either exercise physiotherapy or physical therapy modalities, 2 = using both exercise physiotherapy and physical therapy modalities. The questionnaire also included other aspects of physiotherapy e.g. osteopathy, hip traction and also inquired if steroid injections had been administered in the hip region. These accounted for only very few visits and therefore only physiotherapy, including the exercise physiotherapy or physical therapy modalities, were taken into consideration in the analysis.

The direct medical costs (supervised group therapy, doctor visits, use of physiotherapy when not part of the intervention and total hip replacement) were evaluated, but indirect costs, such as absence from work were not estimated. The direct costs were calculated as the mean cost per patient, in Euro, over the 24 month period based on the supervised group exercise therapy costs in the Mikkeli Health Care Center (Ollikainen 2008) and healthcare unit costs (doctor visits, physiotherapy when not part of the intervention and total hip replacement) in Finland 2006 (Hujanen et al. 2008). The costs of total hip replacement surgery were analysed separately.

## **4.3 STATISTICAL METHODS**

#### 4.3.1 The prospective population-based study (Article I)

Multivariate logistic regression analyses were used to estimate the risk of hip OA according to the baseline risk factors and potential confounding factors. Relative risks were estimated as adjusted odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs). In order to study the effect modification, the first-degree multiplicative interaction terms of workload and injury, one by one, were entered into the logistic regression model. Associations with p-values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The statistical significance of the interactions was tested against the likelihood ratio test and expressed as exact p-values. All analyses were performed using the SAS System for Windows, version 9.1 (SAS Institute, Inc., Cary, NC).

#### 4.3.2 Randomized controlled trial (Articles II, III, IV)

The differences in baseline characteristics between the groups (combined exercise plus general practitioner care and general practitioner care only) were evaluated using independent samples t-test for continuous variables and Fisher's exact test for categorical variables. Associations with p-values of less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. The analyses were conducted using SPSS for Windows 17.0.

At baseline Pearson's coefficients for correlation were used for continuous variables and Spearman's coefficients for correlation were used for the ordinally-scaled education variable to study associations between explanatory and outcome variables. Analysis of covariance (ANCOVA) was used to identify independent risk factors for self-reported pain, self-reported disease-specific physical function and self-reported generic physical function by entering all explanatory variables that correlated (p < 0.01) with the outcome variables into the ANCOVA models. The RAND-36 general health, mental health, social function, vitality, bodily pain and physical and emotional role function and the WOMAC subscale stiffness were not entered into the models of self-reported mobility measures because of possible co-linearity with pain and physical function. The data are presented as means with standard deviations (SDs) and standard errors or medians with ranges or frequencies and percentages depending on the outcome variables and the types of statistical analysis.

A 20% reduction in the primary outcome (WOMAC pain) in response to the exercise intervention was considered clinically relevant. The SD for WOMAC pain was assumed to be 16.5mm based on previous studies (Tubach et al. 2005). Using these assumptions the appropriate sample size was 120 patients (60 per group) with an alpha equal to 0.05 and power equal to 80% and a 10% loss to follow-up.

Repeated measures analysis of variance was used to examine the differences over time between the combined exercise and general practitioner care group and the general practitioner care group, followed by post hoc comparisons of groups at each time point. The post hoc comparisons were based on the estimated marginal mean. The analyses for the WOMAC, RAND-36 and secondary outcomes, except for the sock test, were adjusted for gender, age at baseline, radiologic K-L score of hip OA, the number of comorbidities, the existence of knee OA or knee pain and the duration of hip symptoms. Due to the somewhat unexpected differences between the study groups in the WOMAC, RAND-36 and secondary outcomes were additionally adjusted for the baseline values of the response variable. Randomly missing data in the longitudinal set-up was imputed using the 'last observation carried forward' principle before the analysis (WOMAC, RAND-36 and secondary outcomes) in order to follow the intention to treat principle. Results related to the WOMAC, RAND-36 and performance-based outcome score (except for the sock test) are presented as adjusted estimated marginal means, standard errors and 95% CIs.

The analysis of occasions of health services 'usage and health services' direct costs were carried out using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test for continuous variables and the Fisher's exact test for categorical variables. Fisher's exact test was used to investigate whether distributions of categorical drug use variables differed from one another.

To identify the predictors of disability and pain in hip OA, the intervention and control groups were combined in the analyses. The baseline and two-year follow-up data on all 118 participants were analysed together; group randomization was considered as one of the possible predictors for the outcomes. The outcome variables were self-reported disease-specific pain and physical function subscales of the WOMAC and RAND-36 measured at 0, 3, 6, 12, 18 and 24 month follow-up. The possible explanatory variables were age, gender, educational level (secondary school examination; no vs. yes), comorbidities (no vs. yes), prevalent obesity (BMI < 30.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup> vs. BMI  $\ge$  30.0 kg/m<sup>2</sup>), working status (employed; no vs. yes), the radiological grade of hip OA (K-L 1 vs. K-L 2-4) (Kellgren et al. 1963), the duration of hip symptoms (years), knee symptoms (no vs. yes), study group (control group vs. intervention group) and habitual conditioning physical activity (hours per week) that was not part of the exercise intervention. The associations of possible explanatory variables with the outcome variables were assessed by multivariate linear mixed models in which the correlation structure of data due to the multiple measurements per individual could be taken into account.



# 5 Results

## 5.1 THE PROSPECTIVE POPULATION-BASED STUDY (ARTICLE I)

## 5.1.1 Characteristics of subjects

The distributions of age (mean, SD, range) and other characteristics (number, percentage) of the participants at baseline of the Mini-Finland Survey in 1978-80 and at follow-up in 2000-2001 are presented in Table 5. After 22 years of follow-up, hip OA was diagnosed in 17 men (4.9%) and in 24 women (5.1%).

## 5.1.2 Definition of risk factors

Table 6 shows the odds ratios for having hip OA, adjusted for age and sex and for age, sex and all other covariates. Heavy manual labour was a statistically significant predictor of the development of hip OA even adjusted for all covariates. In addition, individuals who had had a musculoskeletal injury that had led to permanent damage or long-term impairment had a statistically significantly higher risk of developing hip OA than those without such an injury. Education, BMI, smoking, alcohol intake and leisure time physical activity were not associated with the risk of developing hip OA (Table 6). None of these factors modified the associations of heavy labour or major injury with the risk of hip OA (data not shown). Table 5. Characteristics of the subjects in the prospective population-based study.

Characteristics	People invited (%)	e not I	Peop vited not   pate	ole in- l, but partici- d (%)	All pa pants baseli 1978- (%)	rtici- at ine in -1980	Parti at fo up in 2001	cipants llow- 2000- (%)
Age (years)								
Mean	52.9		48.3		51.3		42.5	
SD	14.4		11.4		14.2		9.0	
Range	30-95		30-7	7	30-95		30-72	2
Sex								
Men	2797	(47)	139	(38)	3322	(46)	386	(42)
Women	3142	(53)	230	(62)	3895	(54)	523	(58)
Education (years)	5112	(33)	200	(02)	5055	(31)	525	(30)
0-9	4312	(73)	222	(60)	4905	(68)	371	(41)
10-12	1138	(19)	93	(25)	1505	(21)	275	(30)
> 13	489	(1)	54	(25) (15)	806	(21) (11)	263	(29)
Body mass index $(ka/m^2)$	405	(0)	54	(15)	000	(11)	205	(2)
	2500	$(\Lambda\Lambda)$	172	(47)	3305	(46)	5/3	(60)
25.0	2330	(40)	1/2	(40)	2015	(30)	207	(00)
> 20.0	2370	(40)	140	(40)	2015	(39)	297	(33)
> 30.0 Physical work load	979	(10)	49	(13)	1097	(15)	09	(7)
Physical work load	2110	(2c)	101	(26)	2222	(22)	60	(7)
	2110	(30)	101	(20)	1151	(32)	220	(7)
light sedentary	/35	(12)	10	(23)	1151	(10)	330	(36)
other sedentary	201	(3)	13	(4)	250	(3)	36	(4)
light standing / movements	//2	(13)	60	(16)	1031	(14)	199	(22)
fairly light / medium heavy	1010	(1/)	76	(21)	1266	(18)	180	(20)
heavy manual	823	(14)	35	(9)	950	(13)	92	(10)
very heavy manual	280	(5)	4	(1)	296	(4)	12	(1)
Smoking		(= -)		(==)		·>		(==)
never smoked	3336	(56)	192	(52)	4009	(55)	481	(53)
ex-smoker	1215	(21)	79	(21)	1505	(21)	211	(23)
smoker	1388	(23)	98	(27)	1703	(24)	217	(24)
Alcohol intake (g/week)								
0	2914	(49)	163	(44)	3296	(45)	219	(24)
1-49	2382	(40)	157	(42)	3080	(43)	541	(60)
50-249	210	(4)	21	(6)	285	(4)	54	(6)
>250	433	(7)	28	(8)	556	(8)	95	(10)
Leisure time physical activity								
little physical exercise	2292	(39)	122	(33)	2636	(37)	222	(24)
irregular physical exercise	2873	(48)	173	(47)	3477	(48)	431	(47)
regular physical exercise	764	(13)	74	(20)	1094	(15)	256	(28)
Injury								
No	5287	(89)	341	(92)	6484	(90)	856	(94)
Yes	652	(11)	28	(8)	733	(10)	53	(6)
Hip OA		. ,						
No	5593	(94)	357	(97)	6848	(95)	898	(99)
Yes*	346	(6)	12	(3)	369	(5)	11	(1)

\*Excluded from the follow-up analyses.

Risk factor	Number of subjects examined	Number of OA cases	Adjusted for sex and age	Adjusted for all covariates
		(%)	OR (95 % CI)	OR (95 % CI)
Age (years)*	840	41		1.4 (1.0-2.0)
Sex				
Men	371 (44)	17 (41)		1.0
Women	469 (56)	24 (59)		1.9 (0.8-4.5)
Education (years)				
0-9	331 (39)	17 (41)	1.0	1.0
10-12	255 (31)	15 (37)	1.3 (0.6-2.8)	1.6 (0.7-3.5)
> 13	254 (30)	9 (22)	0.8 (0.4-1.9)	1.5 (0.5-4.1)
Body mass index				
<25.0	507 (60)	20 (49)	1.0	1.0
25.0-29.9	272 (33)	17 (41)	1.4 (0.7-2.8)	1.3 (0.6-2.8)
>30.0	61 (7)	4 (10)	1.4 (0.4-4.3)	1.1 (0.3-3.6)
Physical work load				
light sedentary	327 (39)	10 (24)	1.0	1.0
other sedentary	36 (4)	1 (2)	0.9 (0.1-7.2)	1.1 (0.1-10.0)
light standing / movements	196 (23)	6 (15)	1.0 (0.3-2.7)	1.2 (0.4-3.4)
fairly light / medium heavy	178 (21)	13 (32)	2.4 (1.0-5.7)	3.1 (1.2-8.0)
heavy manual	91 (11)	11 (27)	4.6 (1.8-11.5)	6.7 (2.3-19.5)
very heavy manual	12 (2)	0		
Smoking				
never smoked	435 (52)	22 (54)	1.0	1.0
ex-smoker	197 (23)	10 (24)	1.0 (0.5-2.4)	1.0 (0.4-2.4)
smoker	208 (25)	9 (22)	1.0 (0.4-2.2)	0.9 (0.4-2.3)
Alcohol intake (g/week)				
0	185 (22)	11 (27)	1.0	1.0
1-49	508 (61)	24 (59)	0.9 (0.4-1.9)	1.1 (0.5-2.4)
50-249	53 (6)	0		
>250	94 (11)	6 (15)	1.5 (0.5-4.7)	2.2 (0.6-7.7)
Leisure time physical activity				
little physical exercise	199 (24)	9 (22)	1.0	1.0
irregular physical exercise	395 (47)	21 (51)	1.1 (0.5-2.4)	1.2 (0.5-2.9)
regular physical exercise	246 (29)	11 (27)	0.9 (0.4-2.3)	1.1 (0.4-2.8)
Injury				
No	793 (94)	34 (83)	1.0	1.0
Yes	47 (6)	7 (17)	3.5 (1.4-8.7)	5.0 (1.9-13.3)

Table 6. Adjusted ORs for risk factors of hip OA.

OR = odds ratio, CI = confidence interval.

\*Mean 41.8, SD 8.4, range 30-72 (OR per increment by one SD).

## **5.2 THE RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL (ARTICLES II, III, IV)**

### 5.2.1 Characteristics of subjects at baseline

Figure 4 shows the participant flow and reasons for withdrawal and loss to follow-up at different stages of the study. Baseline characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 7 and 8. In general, the patients in the combined exercise and general practitioner care and general practitioner care groups did not differ at baseline, but WOMAC pain was statistically significantly higher in the general practitioner care group than in the combined exercise and general practitioner care group.

Table 7. Baseline characteristic in the randomized controlled trial.

Variables	Valid percent
Conder	
Male	30.0
Female	70.0
Working status	70.0
No-longer employed	72 0
Part-time employed	11 0
Employed	16.9
Radiographic grade of hip osteoarthritis	1019
Kellgren-Lawrence grade 1	41.7
Kellgren-Lawrence grade 2	42.5
Kellgren-Lawrence grade 3	13.3
Kellgren-Lawrence grade 4	2.5
Knee osteoarthritis	33.9
Comorbidities	
No chronic disease	41.5
One chronic disease	44.9
Two or more chronic diseases	13.6
Overweight	
No (body mass index < 25 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	19.7
Yes (body mass index $\geq 25 \text{ kg} / \text{m}^2$ )	80.3
Depression	
No depression (Beck depression inventory score <15#)	88.6
Depression (Beck depression inventory score $\geq$ 15#)	11.4
Life satisfaction	
Satisfied with life (Life Satisfaction scale = 4-11)	79.7
Unsatisfied with life (Life Satisfaction scale = $12-20$ )	20.3

#Beck depression inventory scores range from 0 to 63.

## 5.2.2 Factors affecting self-reported pain and disability at baseline (II)

The bivariate correlations of pain, self-reported disease specific physical function and self-reported generic physical function with all independent variables are shown in Table 9. The number of comorbidites and the duration of knee pain and LS explained 22% of self-reported pain. The number of comorbidites, passive hip flexion and the TUG test explained 20% of self-reported disease specific physical function whereas the passive hip flexion, 6-MWT and educational level explained 25% of self-reported generic physical function.

Variables Mean ±SD Range Symptoms of hip osteoarthritis Pain index from WOMAC\* (mm)  $25.2 \pm 18.0$ 2-75 Stiffness index from WOMAC\* (mm)  $35.3 \pm 24.4$ 0-90 Physical function index from WOMAC\* (mm)  $26.8 \pm 19.7$ 0-83 Components of health related quality of life (HRQOL) Physical functioning from RAND-36<sup>+</sup>  $62.3 \pm 20.2$ 15-100  $51.3 \pm 39.0$ Role physical from RAND-36<sup>+</sup> 0-100 Bodily pain from RAND-36<sup>+</sup> 57.5 ± 18.3 13-100 56.1 ± 17.3 5-95 General health from RAND-36<sup>+</sup> Vitality from RAND-36<sup>+</sup>  $66.0 \pm 16.8$ 10-100 Social functioning from RAND-36<sup>+</sup>  $80.5 \pm 18.5$ 38-100 Role emotional from RAND-36<sup>+</sup> 67.0 ± 39.3 0-100 Mental health from RAND-36<sup>+</sup> 78.4± 15.0 36-100 Physical performance tests 10-meter walk test (time (s))  $5.9 \pm 1.4$ 3.5-14.3 6-minute walk test (distance (m))  $480.8 \pm 85.2$ 222.0-709.0 Timed up & go test (time (s))  $7.0 \pm 1.4$ 4.5-13.3 Leg extensor power test (W/kg)\$  $1.1 \pm 0.3$ 0.36-2.26 Passive hip flexion (angle (°))¶ 97.4 ±16.8 60-130 Passive hip internal rotation (angle (°))¶  $28.8 \pm 8.2$ 10-47

Table 8. Self-reported and physical performance measures at baseline.

\*Western Ontario and McMaster Universities OA Index ranges from 0 mm (no symptoms) to 100 mm (maximal symptoms).

<sup>+</sup>RAND-36 is the Finnish version of the Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) assessing wellbeing and ranging from 0 (maximal symptoms) to 100 (no symptoms).

\$Leg extensor power was measured by Concept 2-dynamometer.

Passive hip flexion and internal rotation of more painful hip was measured by goniometry.

Variables	WOMAC pain#	WOMAC physical function#	RAND-36 physi- cal function†
Kellgren-Lawrence grade of hip OA∞	.027	.016	018
Body mass index (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	.137	.252**	290**
Comorbidites	.369**	.313**	220*
Duration of knee pain (years)	.198*	.195*	104
Age (years)	.123	.149	138
Education (years)	276**	264**	.291**
Beck depression inventory	.196	.131	184
Life satisfaction scale×	.299**	.204	319**
Smoking (years)	102	097	019
Duration of sport activities (years)	.163	.079	.101
Physical performance tests			
Leg extensor power (W/kg)\$	191*	277**	.256**
Passive hip flexion (angle (°))¶	261**	286**	.239**
Passive hip internal rotation (angle (°))¶	.050	010	.090
Sock test <sup>o</sup>	.134	.243**	303**
10-meter walk test (time (s))	.233*	.208*	338**
Timed up & go test (time (s))	.251**	.282**	344**
6-minute walk test (distance (m))	277**	286**	.417**

*Table 9.* Pearson's coefficients for correlation between dependent (outcome) and independent (explanatory) variables.

#### \*p < 0.05 \*\*p < 0.01.

#Western Ontario and McMaster Universities OA Index ranges from 0 mm (no symptoms) to 100 mm (maximal symptoms).

 $^+\text{RAND-36}$  is the Finnish version of the Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) assessing wellbeing and ranging from 0 (maximal symptoms) to 100 (no symptoms).

 $\infty$ Kellgren-Lawrence grade (0 - 4).

 $\mu\text{Beck}$  depression inventory scores from 0 to 63. Cut-off point for clinically important depression was 15 or over.

×Life satisfaction scale; 4-11 (satisfied group scores) 12-20 (dissatisfied group scores).

\$Leg extensor power was measured by Concept 2-dynamometer.

¶Passive hip flexion and internal rotation of more severe hip was measured by goniometry.

°Sock test scale from 0 to 3; 0 (no difficulties with simulating sock wearing) up to 3 (remarkable difficulties with simulating sock wearing).

#### 5.2.3 Effectiveness of exercise therapy (III)

Adherence to supervised exercise sessions was 86% during the first intervention year that contained 12 supervised sessions during the first three months and 58% during the second intervention year that contained four additional sessions at the 12 month time point. Adherence to the exercise program was commendable during the first year of follow-up with the mean (range) of performed exercise sessions being 2.5 sessions per week during months 0-3, 2.1 sessions per week during months 4-6 and 1.9 sessions per week during months 7-12. A slight decline was observed during the second year of follow-up with the mean being 1.7 sessions per week during months 13-18 and 1.6 during months 19-24.

According to self-reported disease-specific pain (WOMAC), there was no overall statistically significant effect of exercise intervention on self-reported disease-specific pain (Figure 5) at two years and no statistically significant difference between groups was observed at the different time points.

The overall effect of the exercise intervention on self-reported disease-specific function (WOMAC) was statistically significant (p=0.04) (Figure 6). At the 6 and 18 months' time points a statistically significant difference in favor of the combined exercise and general practitioner care group was observed in the self-reported disease-specific function. No differences were detected between the groups in self-reported physical function scale score of RAND-36.



Figure 5. Self-reported disease-specific pain (WOMAC (mean)).

Combined exercise and general practitioner care group ——— General practitioner care group ————





Combined exercise and general practitioner care group — General practitioner care group p = 0.02 —, p = 0.04 —

No statistically significant differences between groups were observed in BMI at the separate time points. Furthermore, there were no significant differences between the groups in measures of physical performance, including the passive internal rotation and flexion of the hip joint, the extensor power of lower limb, in the distance walked in the 6-MWT, in the sock test, 10-MWT and in the TUG tests.

No differences were detected between the groups in the use of paracetamol or weak opioids. At the 12 (p = 0.03) and 18 (p = 0.01) month time points a statistically significant difference in favour of the combined exercise and general practitioner care group was observed in the use of NSAIDs. In the combined exercise and general practitioner care group at the 12 month and 18 month time points 59% (66%) were not using, 31% (25%) were using less than daily and 10% (9%) were using daily NSAIDs. In the general practitioner group at the 12 month (and 18 month) time point 36% (39%) were not using, 55% (50%) were using less than daily and 7% (11%) were using daily NSAIDs.

#### 5.2.4 Cost consequences (III)

Cost consequences of combined exercise and general practitioner care versus general practitioner care alone are shown in Table 10. Neither the number of visits to the doctor nor the mean costs of those visits due to hip OA differed significantly between the groups. The use of physiotherapy due to hip OA was significantly lower in the combined exercise and general practitioner care group compared to the general practitioner care group during the second year of follow-up. In addition, the mean cost of physiotherapy per patient was significantly lower in the combined exercise and general practitioner care group as compared to the general practitioner care group as compared to the general practitioner care group as

#### 5.2.5 Predictors of pain and physical function in two-year follow-up (IV)

Table 11 describes the associations of baseline variables with the outcome variables. Lower disease specific pain and better physical functioning (WOMAC) were predicted by supervised exercise training (p = 0.010, p = 0.004), a higher level of habitual conditioning physical activity (p = 0.048, p = 0.044), a higher educational level (p = 0.004, p = 0.012), the absence of comorbidities (p = 0.042, p = 0.019) and the absence of additional knee OA (p = 0.017, p = 0.021) respectively.

Better general physical function score (RAND-36) was predicted by supervised exercise training (p = 0.026), a higher level of habitual conditioning physical activity (p = 0.012), a higher educational level (p = 0.007) and the absence of additional knee OA (p = 0.015).

The following predictors for the RAND-36 physical component summary scores were supervised exercise training (p = 0.034), a higher educational level (p = 0.009) and the absence of knee OA (p = 0.043). Younger age (p = 0.003) was associated with better RAND-36 mental component summary scores. Gender, the radiological grade of the hip joint, obesity or being retired predicted none of the outcomes characterising pain or physical functioning in hip OA.

Table 10. Number of the doctor visits (during the first and the second years) and use of physiotherapy services associated with hip OA and total hip arthroplasty surgery and health care system direct costs during the two year follow-up.

				:					
		Combined exercise care (r	e and general n = 55-58)	practitioner	Gene	ral practitione (n = 51-58)	ır care		
Outcome variable (with unit costs (€))°	Time (mo)	Median (range)/ number of patients	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE) cost per patient (€)°	Median (range)/ number of patients	Mean (SE)	Mean (SE) cost per patient (€)°	# <b>d</b>	p (mean cost per pa- tient)°%
Supervised group- therapy <sup>≭</sup> (60.04€)	0-3 12			96.1					
Doctor visits* (81.5€)	0-12 12-24	0 (0 - 4) 0 (0 - 3)	$\begin{array}{c} 0.5 \ (0.1) \\ 0.5 \ (0.1) \end{array}$	77.1 (13.8)	0 (0 -10) 0 (0 - 8)	0.8 (0.2) 1.1 (0.2)	152.0 (28.7)	0.38 0.05	0.07
Physiotherapy <sup>§</sup> (91.3€)	0-12 12-24	$\begin{array}{c} 1 \ (0 - 6) \\ 0 \ (0 - 2) \end{array}$	1.3(0.2) 0.4(0.1)	157.7 (23.4)	2(0-8) 1(0-5)	2.0 (0.3) 1.3 (0.2)	298.5 (35.0)	0.05 <0.001	0.002
Costs without total hip replacement	0-24			330.9 (30.1)			454.5 (54.7)		0.12
Total hip replace- ment (8089.6€)	0-12 12-24	N M		709.6 (305.8)	ы л		1155.7 (433.8)	0.68 0.49	0.51
All costs per patient				1066.3 (331.5)			1406.3 (441.8)		0.13

on the supervised group exercise therapy costs in the Mikkeli Health Centre and health care unit costs (visits to the doctor, physiotherapy °An analysis of health care providers direct costs was counted as mean cost per patient ( $\epsilon$ ) from the 0 to 24 month time period based and total hip replacements) in Finland.

≠Difference in the number of visits to the doctor, sum score of the use of physiotherapy and THA (yes/no) during the first and second year of the follow-up between the groups (Mann-Whitney U-test and Fisher's exact test).

Exercise, included in intervention (12 group exercise therapy sessions from 0 to 3 months and 4 group exercise therapy sessions from 12 to 13 <sup>4</sup>Difference in the health care providers direct mean cost per patient during two year follow-up between the groups (Mann-Whitney U-test). months).

\*Number of visits to a doctor concerning hip OA.

Sum score of physiotherapy visits including either exercise physiotherapy and/or physical therapy modalities associated with hip OA (not as part of the intervention).

per dependent variable) i.e. average differences in outcome variables of hip pain and functioning between groups of categorical predictors and Table 11. Parameter estimates (and their 95 % CIs) from multivariate linear mixed models with the following explanatory variables (one model average change per single unit of continuous predictors.

Parameter	WOMAC pain <sup>a</sup>	WOMAC function <sup>a</sup>	RAND-36 function <sup>b</sup>	RAND-36 PCS <sup>b</sup>	RAND-36 MCS <sup>b</sup>
Age (per 10 years)	0.90	0.12	-0.41	-5.10	-8.25**
	(-4.57-6.35)	(-0.48-0.71)	(-1.06-0.23)	(-11.00-0.79)	(-13.602.91) <sup> </sup>
Gender (male vs. female)	2.36	1.62	1.62	-0.12	0.20
	(-4.02-8.73)	(-5.31-8.55)	(-5.92-9.17)	(-7.02-6.78)	(-6.05-6.45)
Education (elementary school vs. secondary school or high school)	9.61**	9.07*	-10.59**	-9.36**	-2.91
	(3.15–16.07) <sup>c</sup>	(2.05–16.09) <sup>f</sup>	(-18.242.94) <sup>i</sup>	(-16.352.36) <sup>k</sup>	(-9.24-3.42)
Comorbidities (no vs. yes)	-6.30*	-7.87*	5.77	5.10	2.16
	(-12.350.24) <sup>d</sup>	(-14.451.30) <sup>g</sup>	(-1.40-12.94)	(-1.46-11.67)	(-3.77-8.09)
Body mass index (< 30.0 kg/m <sup>2</sup> vs. $\geq$ 30.0 kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	2.51	-0.96	5.27	2.97	-1 49
	(-4.27-9.48)	(-8.53-6.61)	(-2.97-13.51)	(-4.57-10.52)	(-8.32-5.33)
Retired vs. employed or part-time employed	0.33	3.54	-1.18	1.46	7.48
	(-7.32-7.98)	(-4.88-11.79)	(-10.25-7.89)	(-6.83-9.76)	(-0.01-14.97)
Radiological grade (Kellgren-Lawrence 1 vs.	1.58	0.74	0.93	0.07	0.39
Kellgren-Lawrence 2-4)	(-4.58-7.75)	(-5.95-7.43)	(-6.35-8.22)	(-6.60-6.74)	(-5.65-6.43)
Duration of hip symptoms (years)	0.17	0.19	-0.12	-0.18	-0.26
	(-0.14-0.49)	(-0.15-0.53)	(-0.50-0.25)	(-0.52-0.16)	(-0.57-0.04)
Knee pain (no vs. yes)	-7.62*	-8.02*	9.25*	7.00*	2.09
	(-13.871.36)	(-14.811.23)	(1.85-16.65)	(0.23–13.77)	(-4.03-8.21)
Group (intervention vs. control)	-10.13*	-11.58**	9.31*	8.26*	4.86
	(-17.872.39)	(-19.403.77)	(1.14-17.47)	(0.61-15.91)	(-2.60–12.32)
Conditioning physical activity (hours/week)	-0.48*	-0.39*	0.56*	0.42	0.42
	(-0.960.01) <sup>e</sup>	(-0.84-0.05) <sup>h</sup>	(0.13-1.00) <sup>i</sup>	(-0.01-0.85)	(-0.03-0.87)

\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.001.

"Western Ontario and McMaster Universities OA Index (WOMAC (mm)).

<sup>7</sup>The Finnish version of the Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) subscales for function and Physical Component Summary (PCS) and Mental Component Summary (MCS) scores.

<sup>-0</sup>.61 higher pain score (0 = no symptoms, 100 = maximal symptoms) with lower educational level.

<sup>4</sup>6.30 lower functional impairment with no comorbidities.

<sup>2</sup>0.48 lower pain score in relation to increase of conditioning exercise training for one hour per week.

9.07 higher functional impairment with lower educational level.

<sup>3</sup>7.87 lower functional impairment with no comorbidities.

<sup>0</sup>.39 lower functional impairment in relation to increase of conditioning exercise training for one hour per week.

<sup>1</sup>10.59 higher functional impairment (0 = maximal symptoms, 100 = no symptoms) with lower educational level.

0.56 lower functional impairment in relation to increase of conditioning exercise training for one hour per week. <sup>6</sup>.36 higher functional impairment with lower educational level.

8.25 higher mental impairment in relation to increase of 10 years of age.



## 6 Discussion

## 6.1 THE PROSPECTIVE POPULATION-BASED STUDY (ARTICLE I)

#### 6.1.1 Methodological considerations

One of the fortes of this study is its design: it was a population-based, prospective study with a long follow-up period extending up to 22 years. A limitation is that the diagnostic criteria of the ACR were not applied. The explanation for this is that the baseline survey was conducted more than two decades ago when the ACR criteria had not been devised. In the follow-up examination, the original criteria of hip OA used in the Mini-Finland Health Survey were conformed to. Hip OA was diagnosed by specially trained physicians who applied uniform diagnostic criteria that took into account medical histories, symptoms and the physical status of the hip joints assessed according to a standardised clinical procedure. However, it is possible that there was some inconsistency between physicians in the diagnostics of hip OA. Therefore the repeatability of the diagnoses was tested across the field teams in the Health 2000 Survey (follow-up) and repeatability shown to be acceptable. This was as displayed in the previous national health examination survey using similar protocol and the same diagnostic criteria (Heliövaara et al. 1993a). In the current survey, the agreement between definite clinical and radiological diagnoses of hip OA proved to be moderate (Kaila-Kangas et al. 2011). The results of the present study may therefore differ from the observations of previous studies, which have diagnosed hip OA on the basis of radiographic findings.

The two-stage selection from the baseline examination to the invitation and subsequently to the participation in re-examination may have attenuated the risk estimates. At the first stage, factors associated with morbidity, and disability, such as old age, male sex, a lower level of education, a history of very heavy manual labour and all obvious factors that are more common in rural than urban settings, led to a decreased likelihood of re-examination. At the second stage, obesity 22 years earlier was still associated with non-participation. Consequently, the prevalence of major risk factors and the magnitude of the effects of the risk factors may have lowered, whereas any severe bias in the other direction would have barely registered.

#### 6.1.2 Main findings

Physical loading related to heavy manual labour and permanent damage as a consequence of any musculoskeletal injury proved to be independent risk factors for developing hip OA in this population-based study.

Several studies have shown that farmers have a higher risk of developing hip OA than other occupationally active men (Croft et al. 1992, Thelin and Holmberg 2007). Previous studies have also suggested that lifting heavy objects is a significant risk factor for clinical and radiological hip OA (Lievense et al. 2001, Jensen 2008, Kaila-Kangas et al. 2011). A recent review concluded that there is moderate to strong evidence for a relationship between heavy lifting and hip OA (Jensen 2008). However, the role of heavy workload in the pathogenesis of hip OA has not been clarified. A widely accepted theory is that susceptibility to OA may be the result of an interaction between systemic (such as genetics, dietary intake, oestrogen use, and bone density) and biomechanical factors (such as muscle weakness, obesity, heavy workload, and join laxity) (Felson et al. 2000).

OA may occur when activity is excessive or when a lower load acts on a vulnerable joint. Considerable effort has been made over the years to describe the variety of forces that contribute to the joint reaction force of the human hip (Bergman et al 2001, Arokoski et al. 2000). Direct measurements of such forces are very cumbersome and to date are not possible in humans. During slow walking the hip joint is loaded with approximately 3 times body weight just after heel strike, with forces increasing 4 times body weight just before toe-off (Kabada et al. 1989). During running, forces equivalent to 7 to 8 times body weight are transmitted across the hip joint during heel strike and increase to a value slightly higher than that during toe-off (Kabada et al. 1989).

Cartilage damage attributable to trauma can compromise the ability of cartilage to function and survive in the strenuous mechanical environment normally found in loadbearing joints. Joint injury and subsequent joint instability, from loss of ligamental or meniscal support, are known to be significant risk factors for knee OA (Radin et al. 1991). In the Framingham study (Felson 1988) both males and females who had suffered major knee injuries in the past were subsequently prone to develop knee OA. However, major injuries leading to ligamental tears and cartilaginous damage are rare in the hip. Cross-sectional studies (Heliövaara et al. 1993b, Cooper et al. 1998, Lau et al. 2000, Thelin and Holmberg 2007) have inferred that traumatic injuries might also give rise to hip OA. Nonetheless, the findings of the present study were surprising: individuals who had sustained traumatic injuries displayed a fivefold risk of developing hip OA during the follow-up period. A closer inspection of the anatomical distribution of the traumatic injuries indicated that the hip joint was only rarely directly affected in these cases. One possible explanation for this finding might be that the cases were overloaded and under pressure at work and therefore more liable to sustain traumatic injuries in a variety of parts of the body.

The hypothesis of our study was that, within 22 years of follow-up, excess body weight would emerge as a strong independent risk factor for hip OA. However, the association of obesity with increased risk of hip OA was not found. Although epidemiological studies have observed the direct association of obesity with hip OA (Jiang et al. 2011), the results of some studies are inconsistent (Heliövaara et al. 1993b, Hartz et al. 1986, Gelber 2003). It has also been suggested that metabolic or inflammatory factors contribute to the relationship between obesity and OA (Vuolteenaho et al. 2009). Recent research seems to be focused on distinguishing specific phenotypes of OA by different pathogenic pathways (Bijlsma et al. 2011). These may reveal a new perspective and lead to a deeper understanding development of OA helping to find new treatment strategies at an earlier stage. It is hoped that future research will clarify the potential role of systemic and local inflammatory and metabolic factors associated with adipose tissue as contributors to the risk of hip OA.

#### 6.1.3 Clinical implications

Working conditions and workplace ergonomics should be taken into account in order to develop strategies aimed at the prevention of hip OA and its medical, functional and economic consequences. Using a preventative strategy to protect individuals from excessive workloads could probably avoid many cases of hip OA.

## 6.2 RANDOMIZED CONTROLLED TRIAL (ARTICLES II, III, IV)

#### 6.2.1 Methodological considerations

A particular strength of the present study was the design; a randomized controlled trial. Moreover, patients included had all been diagnosed with hip OA prior to the study and used interventions especially designed for hip OA. The subject groups had hip OA with mild to moderate symptoms, as indicated by relatively low WOMAC scores of pain and physical function, which are commonly seen in patient groups in primary care (Lievense et al. 2007). In addition, patients with hip OA with K-L grade 1 were included although grade 1 is not considered to be a definite indication of OA. This inclusion decision was taken because OA diagnosis is based not only on radiological but also on clinical symptoms as indicated in the clinical criteria of the ACR (Altman et al. 1991). Although the patients scored mild to moderate symptoms on the WOMAC, a total of 13 patients (11%) had to undergo

total hip replacement surgery within the 2-year period. This indicates that the patients included in the trial had noticeable symptoms for which they needed efficient treatment modalities.

Despite the appropriate randomisation and concealment of allocation, an unexpected difference in WOMAC-pain, one of the primary measures of the study, was observed between the groups. Repeated measures ANCOVA was used to analyse the data. Treatment group, measurement time (visit) and their interaction were used as fixed factors in the model. WOMAC-pain at baseline was included in the model as continuous covariate and other adjusting variables as fixed factors or covariates depending on their measurement scale. Repeated measures analyses were used to adjust for the differences in the response variable's baseline values, in order to minimise the risk of bias.

The underlying study principle was that any possible result could be applied in primary health care as well as in specialist clinics. Therefore, the intervention was accomplished as collaboration between the rehabilitation clinic of a central hospital and the primary health care organisation with the participants mainly being recruited from the primary health care. Consequently, the study sample comprises a representative sample of patients with hip OA and not those collected from patients attending orthopedic clinics. This can be considered as a genuine strength of the study. It was also important that the exercise programme could be performed without the requirement for specialist training equipment. For practical reasons the exercise program was generic and not individually tailored for each participant. Greater improvements may have been reached in self-reported function and performance based outcome scores if more individualised and intensive strengthening exercise treatment programmes had been used (Hinman et al. 2007).

The majority of studies evaluating exercise as treatment for patients with OA have encountered difficulties in compliance with treatment by the subjects themselves (Williams et al. 2008, Domino 2005). The low dropout rate is a major strength of this study. The exercise programme was generally well tolerated, resulting in commendable adherence to it especially during the first year. The mean of exercise sessions per week was 2.5 during months 0-3, 2.1 during months 4-6 and 1.9 during months 7-12. A slight decline was assessed during the second year of follow-up with the mean being 1.7 in months 13-18 and 1.6 in months 19-24. These exercise frequencies are below those recommended for the study's rehabilitation programme. For example, research has consistently shown that as many as half of all patients with diagnosed hypertension do not follow their recommended drug regime (Domino 2005, Williams et al. 2008). This issue manifests itself equally with respect to exercise therapy and at worst, can nullify any conclusions about therapeutic efficacy. The duration of the exercise period and the amount of individual exercises performed per session would be sufficient in terms of evaluating the potential effect of exercising (Feigenbaum and Polock 1999, Wernbom et al. 2007).

#### 6.2.2 Main findings

The present randomized controlled trial showed slight benefits of improved self-reported physical function but detected no significant effect on disease-specific pain during a twoyear follow-up. However, deeper analyses of the study in the same subjects provides somewhat stronger evidence that exercise therapy can reduce pain and help maintaining physical function in hip OA patients. This is because exercise training generally predicted a lower presence of pain and better functional status in patients with hip OA. The weaker evidence from the randomized controlled trial than from the latter analyses may be attributable to the relatively small study population. The smaller group lowers statistical power to detect statistically significant effects in the intervention study. The more detailed analyses of pain and physical function resulted in an improved outcome in the exercise therapy group. The results emphasise exercise training to be beneficial in the management of hip OA and are aligned with existing recommendations (Roddy et al. 2005, Hochberg et al. 2012). In this study, there was no significant difference in self-reported pain score between the groups. However, participants in the combined exercise and general practitioner care group used less NSAIDs compared to the general practitioner care group. The use of painkillers may be a more objective indicator of long-term pain than pain symptoms. The difference between the groups was nearly significant at the 6-month time point and statistically significant at the 12 and 18-month time points; the second year of follow-up. These results support the view that exercise has a long-term pain-relieving effect in hip OA.

The minimal difference in WOMAC sub-scores of 0.67 - 0.75 points (scale 0 - 10) in absolute values and 11 - 26% in relative values has been suggested necessary to achieve clinical significance in rehabilitation studies (Angst et al. 2001, Fransen et al. 2008). In this study, the mean difference in WOMAC physical function scores between the groups was 7.5 mm (scale 0-100) at 6 months and 7.9 mm at 18 months, which can be considered relatively small. Tubach et al. (2005) determined the minimal clinically significant improvement of functional impairment in patients with knee and hip OA. They suggested that the statistically significant difference is predominantly a matter of sample size. Whereas a more difficult issue is whether an observed or estimated difference is clinically important. They assessed that the minimal clinically important improvement in absolute (and relative) change of WOMAC function subscale in knee and hip OA was -7.9mm (– 21.1%). In the present study the mean statistically significant difference in the improvement of WOMAC function index between the groups was about 8 mm (i.e. about 24% difference) at 6 and 18 months, the difference could be considered clinically significant.

It was not possible to undertake a comprehensive cost-effectiveness analysis, because only a limited number of direct medical costs and no indirect costs were assessed. Direct medical costs due to supervised group therapy, visits to the doctor, physiotherapy and THA are considered the most important expenses for the cost-effectiveness analysis. In this trial the number of THAs was lower in the combined exercise and general practitioner care group than in the general care group. However, the observed difference may be due to chance because of a small number of subjects who needed THA in the study groups. In general, this study provides only weak evidence for the cost-effectiveness of exercise therapy. This was because it did not include a sufficient number of subjects for comprehensive cost-effectiveness analyses.

It was found that a higher educational level, the absence of comorbidities and additional knee symptoms as well as being in the exercise therapy group predicted lower pain scores and a better function during a two year follow-up. Furthermore cross-sectional analyses at baseline indicated that educational level, life satisfaction, the duration of knee symptoms and the number of comorbidities were associated with self-reported pain and function in hip OA.

Educational level and working status predicted a better outcome in the present longitudinal study, whereas disease-related factors showed no or only a weak association with pain and functional status. A recent study (Schäfer et al. 2010) demonstrated that socioeconomic position (social, educational and occupational factors) had a significant impact on functional outcome and response to hip replacement. The present study is the first to report the association of socioeconomic position with pain and physical function prior to hip replacement among patients with hip OA.

The results of the present study suggest that comorbidities predict a poorer pain and physical function outcome among the hip OA patient during a two-year follow-up. It was also demonstrated that knee pain or knee OA, in addition to hip OA, are significant when determining the factors affecting pain and functional status. This is the first longitudinal study on these associations among patients with hip OA. It has been suggested that comorbidities and cognitive decline also increase limitations in activities in elderly patients with OA (van Dijk et al. 2009). OA is one of the diseases with a high rate of comorbidities (Leite et al. 2011). There is evidence that as high as 68-85% of patients with OA have comorbidities (Tuominen et al. 2007, van Dijk et al. 2009). Conditions that frequently occur alongside

OA are diabetes, hypertension, depression and cardiovascular diseases (Lago et al. 2011) and often comorbidities are related to disability (Marks and Allegrante 2002). Cognitive impairment is frequently observed in the elderly but their prevalence and association with limitations in activities have not been studied in patients with OA.

Leite and co-workers found, in a cross-sectional study, that hip OA patients often have depression, metabolic syndrome and its components, which can worsen pain and physical dysfunction (Leite et al. 2011). Dekker and co-workers indicated that comorbidities are important risk factors for functional decline among patients with hip or knee OA (Dekker et al. 2009). Such results emphasise the requirement for assessing and treating those comorbidities in OA patients.

#### 6.2.3 Clinical implications

A low educational level, life dissatisfaction and comorbidities were important determinants of self-reported pain and physical dysfunction. Factors explaining and predicting disability and pain in hip OA are multidimensional and no single factor was identified as more significant than others.

The present two-year randomized controlled trial shows that exercise therapy may slightly improve self-reported physical function in individuals with hip OA. However, it is unclear whether the improved physical function translates into true improvement in physical performance or reduced health care costs. A higher educational level, absence of knee OA and comorbidities, supervised exercise training and habitual conditioning physical activity predicted a lower existence of pain and a better functional status. The radiographic severity of hip OA was associated with pain and disability in the prospective study.

The results of the present study emphasise the requirement for focusing not only on disease-specific impairment (e.g. radiological severity of hip OA) as well as general support such as preventing the functional decline associated with the disease. This type of global approach to rehabilitation, taking into account individuals background (education) and comorbidities, is important when developing optimal treatment strategies for hip OA. The results of this study provide additional evidence to support the view that clinical decisions cannot be made only by radiographic findings of the hip joint alone; symptoms and physical function, of the patient suffering from hip OA, are also important factors.


## 7 Conclusions

The principal findings of these studies (Papers I-IV) are:

I

Physical loading related to heavy manual labour and musculoskeletal injuries are independent risk factors for developing hip OA. Working conditions and ergonomics should be taken into account in the prevention of hip OA. (I).

Π

Exercise therapy for hip OA had no significant effect on self-reported pain or generic physical health, but it slightly improved self-reported physical function in individuals with hip OA. It is unclear whether the improved self-reported physical function translates into true improvement in physical performance or reduced health care costs (III).

## III-IV

Factors explaining and predicting disability and pain in hip OA are multidimensional and no single factor was more significant than any other (II). Higher educational levels, absence of knee OA and comorbidities, supervised exercise training and habitual conditioning physical activity predicted a lower presence of pain and a better functional status in patients with hip OA (IV).



## 8 References

Aalto A-M, Aro AR, Teperi J (1999). RAND-36 as a measure of health-related quality of life. Reliability, construct validity and reference values in the Finnish general population. Helsinki, Stakes, Research Reports 101.

Adam A, Dixon AK (2008). Grainger & Allison's Diagnostic Radiology, 4 ed. page 1001.

Aho K, Heliövaara M, Sievers K, Maatela J, Isomäki H (1989). Clinical arthritis associated with positive radiological and serological findings in Finnish adults. Rheumatol Int 9: 7-11.

Allen KD (2010). Racial and ethnic disparities in osteoarthritis phenotypes. Curr Opin Rheumatol 22 (5): 528-32.

Allen KD, Oddone EZ, Coffman CJ, Keefe FJ, Linquist JH, Bosworth HB (2010). Racial differences in osteoarthritis pain and function: potential explanatory factors. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 18 (2): 160-7.

Altman RD, Alarcon G, Appelrouth D, Bloch D, Borenstein D, Brandt K, Brown C, Cooke TD, Daniel W, Feldman D (1991). The American collage of Rheumatology criteria for the classification and reporting of osteoarthritis of the hip. Arthritis Rheum 34 (5): 505-14.

Altman RD (1991). Criteria for classification of clinical osteoarthritis. J Rheumatol Suppl 27 (2): 10-12.

Amaro A, Amado F, Duarte JA, Appell HJ (2007). Gluteus medius muscle atrophy is related to contralateral and ipsilateral hip joint osteoarthrosis. Int J Sport Med 28 (12): 1035-9.

Anderson JDA (1984). Arthrosis and its relation to work. Scand J Work Environ Health 10: 429-33.

Andersson S, Nilsson B, Hessel T, Saraste M, Noren A, Stevens-Andersson A, Rydholm D (1989). Degenerative joint disease in ballet dancers. Clin Orthop Relat Res 238: 233-6.

Angst F, Aeschlimann A, Stucki G (2001). Smallest detectable and minimal clinically important differences of rehabilitation intervention with their implications for required sample sizes using WOMAC and SF-36 quality of life measurement instruments in patients with osteoarthritis of the lower extremities. Arthritis Rheum 45 (4): 384-91.

Arendt-Nielsen L, Nie H, Laursen MB, Laursen BS, Madeleine P, Simonsen OH, Graven-Nielsen T (2010). Sensitization in patients with painful knee osteoarthritis. Pain 149 (3): 573-81.

Arnoldi CC, Lemberg RK, Linderholm H (1975). Intraosseus hypertension and pain in the knee. J Bone Joint Surg Br 57 (3): 360-3.

Arokoski JP, Jurvelin JS, Väätäinen U, Helminen HJ (2000). Normal and pathological adaptations of articular cartilage to joint loading. Scand J Med Sci Sports 10 (4): 186-98.

Arokoski MH, Arokoski JP, Haara M, Kankaanpää M, Vesterinen M, Niemitukia LH, Helminen HJ (2002). Hip muscle strength and muscle cross sectional area in men with and without hip osteoarthritis. J Rheumatol 29 (10): 2185-95.

Arokoski MH, Haara M, Helminen H, Arokoski JP (2004). Physical function in men with and without hip osteoarthritis. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 85 (4): 574-81.

Arokoski J, Eskelinen A, Helminen E-E, Kettunen J, Malmivaara A, Mattila V, Moilanen E. Ojala R, Paavolainen P, Salo P, Virolainen P, Vuolteenaho K (2012). Polvi- ja lonkkanivelrikon hoito (verkkoversio). Käypä hoito –suositus. Suomalaisen Lääkäriseura Duodecimin ja Suomen Ortopediayhdistys ry:n asettama työryhmä. Helsinki: Suomalainen Lääkäriseura Duodecim (päivitetty 22.10.2012). www.kaypahoito.fi.

Arokoski J, Manninen P, Kröger H, Heliövaara M, Nykyri E, Impivaara O (2012). Hip and knee pain and osteoarthritis. In: Musculoskeletal disorders in and diseases in Finland. Results of the Health 2000 Survey. Publications of the National Health Institute 2007/B25: 37-41.

Aromaa A, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Knekt P, Maatela J, Joukamaa M, Klaukka T, Lehtinen V, Melkas T, Mäkelä E, Nyman K, Paunio I, Reunanen A, Sievers K, Kalimo E, Kallio V (1989). Terveys, toimintakyky ja hoidontarve Suomessa. Mini-Suomiterveystutkimuksen perustulokset. Helsinki: Kansaneläkelaitoksen julkaisuja AL:32.

van Baar ME, Dekker J, Lemmens JA, Oostendorp RA, Bijlsma JW (1998). Pain and disability in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: the relationship with articular, kinesiological, and psychological characteristics. J Rheumatol 25 (1): 125-33.

van Baar ME, Dekker J, Oostendorp RA, Bijl D, Voorn TB, Lemmens JA, Bijlsma JW (1998). The effectiveness of exercise therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a randomized clinical trial. J Rheumatol 25 (12): 2432-9.

van Baar ME, Assendelft WJ, Dekker J, Oostendorp RA, Bijlsma JW (1999). Effectiveness of exercise therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Arthritis Rheum 42 (7): 1361-9.

Barker K, Lamb SE, Toye F, Jackson S, Barrington S (2004). Association between radiographic joint space narrowing, function, pain and muscle power in severe osteoarthritis of the knee. Clin Rehabil 18 (7): 793-800.

Beck M, Kalhor M, Leunig M, Ganz R (2005). Hip morphology influences the pattern of damage to the acetabular cartilage: femoroacetabular impingement as a cause of early osteoarthritis of the hip. J Bone Joint Surg Br 87 (7): 1012-8.

Beck AT, Ward CH, Mendelson M, Mock J, Erbaugh J (1961). An inventory for measuring depression. Arch Gen Psychiatry 4 (6): 561-71.

Bellamy N, Buchanan WW, Goldsmith CH, Campbell J, Stitt LW (1988). Validation study of WOMAC: a health status instrument for measuring clinically important patient relevant outcomes to antirheumatic drug therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. J Rheumatol 15 (12): 1833-40.

Bennell KL, Thorlene E, Yong-Hao P, Abbott JH, Sims K, Buchbinder R (2011). Building the rationale and structure for a complex physical therapy intervention within the context of a clinical trial: A multimodal individualized treatment for patients with hip osteoarthritis. Phys Ther 91 (10): 1525-41.

Bergmann G, Deuretzbacher G, Heller M, Graichen F, Rohlmann A, Strauss J, Duda GN (2001). Hip contact forces and gait patterns from routine activities. J Biomech 34 (7): 859-71.

Bijlsma JW, Berenbaum F, Lafeber FP (2011). Osteoarthritis: an update with relevance for clinical practice. Lancet 18; 377 (9783): 2115-26.

Bingham CO 3rd, Smugar SS, Wang H, Peloso PM, Gammaitoni A (2011). Predictors of response to cyclo-oxygenase-2 inhibitors in osteoarthritis: pooled results from two identical trials comparing etoricoxib, celecoxib and placebo. Pain Med 12 (3): 352-61.

Birrell F, Croft P, Cooper C, Hosie G, Macfarlane G, Silman A; PCR Hip Study Group (2001). Predicting radiographic hip osteoarthritis from range of movement. Rheumatology 40 (5): 506-12.

Birrell F, Lunt M, Macfarlane GJ, Silman AJ (2005). Defining hip pain for population studies. Ann Rheum Dis 64 (1): 95-8.

Boegård T, Rudling O, Petersson IF, Jonsson K (1998). Correlation between radiographically diagnosed osteophytes and magnetic resonance detected cartilage defects in the patellofemoral joint. Ann Rheum Dis 57 (7): 395-400.

Bradley EM (1991). Population projections and the effect of rheumatology. Ann Rheum Dis 50 (1): 3-6.

Brandt KD, Radin EL, Dieppe PA, van de Putte L (2006). Yet more evidence that osteoarthritis is not a cartilage disease. Ann Rheum Dis 65 (10): 1261-4.

Buchwald H, Avidor Y, Braunwald E, Jensen MD, Pories W, Fahrbach K, Schoelles K(2004). Bariatric surgery: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA 13; 292 (14): 1724-37.

Buckwalter JA (1995). Osteoarthritis and articular cartilage use, disuse, and abuse: experimental studies. J Rheumatol Suppl 43 (2): 13-5.

Cibere J (2006). Do we need radiograps to diagnose osteoarthritis? Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol 20 (1): 27-38.

Cibulka MT, Threlkeld J (2004). The early clinical diagnosis of osteoarthritis of the hip. J Orthop Sports Phys Ther 34 (8): 461-7.

Cochrane T, Davey RC, Matthes Edwards SM (2005). Randomized controlled trial of the cost-effectiveness of water-base therapy for lower limb osteoarthritis. Health Technol Assess 9 (31): 1-114.

Coggon D, Kellingray S, Inskip H, Croft P, Campbell L, Cooper C (1998). Osteoarthritis of the hip and occupational lifting. Am J Epidemiol 15; 147 (6): 523-8.

Comez R, Conde J, Scotece M, Gomez-Reino J, Lago F, Gualillo O (2011). What's new in our understanding of the role of adipokines in rheumatic diseases? Nat Rev Rheumatol 7: 528-36.

Cooper C, Inskip H, Croft P, Campbell L, Smith G, McLaren M, Coggon D (1998). Individual risk factors for hip osteoarthritis: obesity, hip injury, and physical activity. Am J Epidemiol 15; 147 (6): 516-22.

Cooper C, Snow S, McAlindon TE, Kellingray S, Stuart B, Coggon D, Dieppe PA (2000). Risk factors for the incidence and progression of radiographic knee osteoarthritis. Arthritis Rheum 43 (5): 995-1000.

Croft P, Cooper C, Wickham C, Coggon D (1992). Osteoarthritis of the hip and occupational activity. Scand J Work Environ Health 18 (1): 59-63.

Croft P, Coggon D, Cruddas M, Cooper C (1992). Osteoarthritis of the hip: an occupational disease in farmers. BMJ 16; 304 (6837): 1269-72.

Cushnaghan J, Dieppe P (1991). Study of 500 patients with limb joint osteoarthritis. Analysis by age, sex and distribution of symptomatic joint sites. Ann Rheum Dis 50 (1): 8-13.

Cvijetic S, Dekanic-Ozegovic D, Campbell L, Cooper C, Potocki K (1999). Occupational physical demands and hip osteoarthritis. Arh Hig Rada Toksikol 50 (4): 371-9.

Dagenais S, Garbedian S, Wai EK (2009). Systematic review of the prevalence of radiographic primary hip osteoarthritis. Clin Orthop Relat Res 467 (3): 623-37.

Davis MA, Ettinger WH, Neuhaus JM, Barclay JD, Segal MR (1992). Correlates of knee pain among US adults with and without radiographic knee osteoarthritis. J Rheumatol 19 (12): 1943-9.

Dawson J, Linsell L, Zondervan K, Rose P, Randall T, Carr A, Fizpatrick R (2004). Epidemiology of hip and knee pain and its impact on overall health status in older adults. Rheumatology (Oxford) 43 (4): 497-504.

Dekker J, van Dijk GM, Veenhof C (2009). Risk factors for functional decline in osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. Curr Opin Rheumatol 21 (5): 520-4.

van Dijk GM, Dekker J, Veenhof C, van den Ende CH; Carpa Stuy Group (2006). Course of functional status and pain in osteoarthritis of the hip and knee: a systematic review of the literature. Arthritis Rheum 15; 55 (5): 779-85.

van Dijk GM, Veenhof C, Lankhorst GJ, Dekker J (2009). Limitations in activities in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: the relationship with body functions, comorbidity and cognitive functioning. Disabil Rehabil 31 (20): 1685-91.

Domino FJ (2005). Improving adherence to treatment for hypertension. Am Fam Physician1; 71 (11): 2089-90.

Ecker TM, Tannast M, Puls M, Siebenrock KA, Murphy SB (2007). Pathomorphologic alterations predict presence or absence of hip osteoarthritis. Clin Orthop Relat Res 465 (10): 46-52.

Elders MJ (2000). The increasing impact of arthritis on public health. J Rheumatol Suppl 60 (10): 6-8.

Escalante Y, Saavedra JN, Garcia-Hermoso A, Silva AJ, Barbosa TH (2010). Physical exercise and reduction of pain in adults with lower limb osteoarthritis: a systematic review. J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil 23 (4): 175-86.

Eskelinen A, Haataja J, Halonen P, Lassila R, Leskinen J, Huopio J, Huotari K, Jokipii P, Kettunen J (2010). Hyvä hoito lonkan ja polven tekonivelkirurgiassa. Suomen artroplastiayhdistys.

Faulkner A, Kennedy LG, Baxter K, Donovan J, Wilkinson M, Bevan G (1998). Effectiveness of hip prostheses in primary total hip replacement: a critical review of evidence and an economic model. Health Technol Assess 2 (6): 1-133.

Feigenbaum MS, Pollock ML (1999). Prescription of resistance training for health and disease. Med Sci Sports Exerc 31 (1): 38-45.

Felson DT (1990). Osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 16 (3): 499-512.

Felson DT (1990). The epidemiology of knee osteoarthritis: results from the Framingham Osteoarthritis study. Semin Arthritis Rheum 20 (3 Suppl): 42-50.

Felson DT (1988). Epidemiology of hip and knee osteoarthritis. Epidemiol Rev 10: 1-28.

Felson DT (1998). Preventing knee and hip osteoarthritis. Bull Rheum Dis 47 (7): 1-4.

Felson DT (2005). The sources of pain in knee osteoarthritis. Curr Opin Rheumatol 17 (5): 624-8.

Felson DT (2006). Clinical practice. Osteoarthritis of the knee. N Engl J Med 23; 354 (8): 841-8.

Felson DT, Lawrence RC, Dieppe PA, Hirsch R, Helmick CG, Jordan JM, Kington RS, Lane NE, Nevitt MC, Zhang Y, Sowers M, McAlindon T, Spector TD, Poole AR, Yanovski SZ, Ateshian G, Sharma L, Buckwalter JA, Brandt KD, Fries JF (2000). Osteoarthritis: new insights. Part 1: the disease and its risk factors. Ann Intern Med 17; 133 (8): 635-46.

Fernandes L, Storheim K, Nordsletten L, Risberg MA (2010). Development of a therapeutic exercise program for patients with osteoarthritis of the hip. Phys Ther 90 (4): 592-601.

Fitzpatrick R, Shortall E, Sculpher M, Murray D, Morris R, Lodge M, Dawson J, Carr A, Britton A, Briggs A (1998). Primary total hip replacement surgery: a systematic review of outcomes and modeling of cost effectiveness associated with different prostheses. Health Technol Assess 2 (20): 1-64.

Flugsrud GB, Nordsletten L, Espeaug B, Haveln LI, Meyer HE (2002). Risk factors for total hip replacement due to primary osteoarthritis: a cohort study in 50,034 persons. Arthritis Rheum 46 (3): 675-82.

Flugsrud GB, Nordsletten L, Espeaug B, Haveln LI, Engeland A, Meyer HE (2006). The impact of body mass index on later total hip arthroplasty for primay osteoarthritis: a cohort study in 1.2 million persons. Arthritis Rheum 54 (3): 802-7.

Foley A, Halbert J, Hewitt T, Crotty M (2003). Does hydrotherapy improve strength and physical function in patients with osteoarthritis: a randomized controlled trial comparing a gym based and a hydrotherapy based strengthening programme. Ann Rheum Dis 62 (12): 1162-7.

Franklin J, IngvarssonT, Englund M, Lohmander LS (2009). Sex differences in the association between body mass index and total hip or knee joint replacement resulting from osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 68 (4): 536-40.

Fransen M, Nairn L, Winstanley J, Lam P, Edmonds J (2007). Physical activity for osteoarthritis management: a randomized controlled clinical trial evaluating hydrotherapy or Tai Chi classes. Arthritis Rheum 15; 57 (3): 407-14.

Fransen M, McConnel S (2008). Exercise for the osteoarthritis of the knee. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 8; (4): CD004376.

Fransen M, McConnell S, Hernandez-Molina G, Reichenbach S (2009). Exercise for osteoarthritis of the hip. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 8; (3): CD007912.

Fransen M, McConnell S, Hernandez-Molina G, Reichenbach S (2010). Does land-based exercise reduce pain and disability associated with hip osteoarthritis? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 18 (5): 613-20.

Gabriel SE, Jaakkimainen L, Bombardier C (1991). Risk for serious gastrointestinal complications related to use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. Ann Intern Med 115 (10): 787-96.

Ganz R, Leunig M, Leunig-Ganz K, Harris WH (2008). The etiology of osteoarthritis of the hip: an integrated mechanical concept. Clin Ortop Relat Res 466 (2): 264-72.

Gelber AC (2003). Obesity and hip osteoarthritis: the weight of the evidence is increasing. Am J Med 1; 114 (2): 158-9.

Gilbey HJ, Ackland TR, Wang AW, Morton AR, Trouchet T, Tapper J (2003). Exercise improves early functional recovery after total hip arthroplasty. Clin Orthop Relat Res 408: 193-200.

Gill RS, Al-Adra DP, Shi X, Sharma AM, Birch DW, Karmali S (2011). The benefits of bariatric surgery in obese patients with hip and knee osteoarthritis: a systematic review. Obes Rev 12 (12): 1083-9.

Gillette JA, Tarricone R (2003). Economic evaluation of osteoarthritis treatment in Europe. Expert Opin Pharmacother 4 (3): 327-41.

Goker B, Doughan AM, Schnitzer TJ, Block JA (2000). Quantification of progressive joint space narrowing in osteoarthritis of the hip: longitudinal analysis of the contralateral hip after total hip arthroplasty. Arthritis Rheum 43 (5): 988-94.

Goldring MB, Goldring SR (2007). Osteoarthritis. J Cell Physiol 213 (3): 626-34.

Graham DJ, Campen D, Hui R, Spence M, Cheetham C, Levy G, Shoor S, Ray WA (2005). Risk of acute myocardial infarction and sudden cardiac death in patients treated with cyclooxygenase 2 selective and non-selective non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs: nested casecontrol study. Lancet 5-11; 365 (9458): 475-81.

Grimaldi A, Richardson C, Durbridge G, Donnelly W, Darnell R, Hides J (2009). The association between degenerative hip joint pathology and size of the gluteus maximus and tensor fascia lata muscles. Man Ther 14 (6): 611-7.

Guillemin F, Rat AC, Mazieres B, Pouchot J, Fautrel B, Euller-Ziegler L, Fardellone P, Morvan J, Roux CH, Verrouil E, Saraux A, Coste J; 3000 Osteoarthritis group (2011). Osteoarthritis Cartilage 19 (11): 1314-22.

Guyatt GH, Sullivan MJ, Thompson PJ, Fallen EL, Pugsley SO, Taylor DW, Berman LB (1985). The 6-minute walk: a new measure of exercise capacity in patients with chronic heart failure. Can Med Assoc J 15; 132 (8): 919-23.

Hall LD, Tyler JA (1995). Can quantitative magnetic resonance imaging detect and monitor the progression of early osteoarthritis in osteoarthritic disorders? Kuetner K and Goldberg V, Editors. American Accadamy of Orthopaedic Surgeons: Rosemont, IL. pp 67-84.

Hall MC, Mockett SP, Doherty M (2006). Relative impact of radiographic osteoarthritis and pain on quadriceps strength, proprioception, static postural sway and lower limb function. Ann Rheum Dis 65 (7): 865-70.

Hannan MT, Felson DT, Pincus T (2000). Analysis of the discordance between radiographic changes and knee pain in osteoarthritis of the knee. J Rheumatol 27 (6): 1513-7.

Hannila I, Nieminen MT, Rauvala E, Tervonen O, Ojala RO (2007). Patellar carilage lesions: comparison of T2 relaxation time mapping and standard knee MRI protocol. Acta Radiol 48 (4): 444-8.

Harris WH (1986). Etiology of osteoarthritis of the hip. Clin Orthop Relat Res 213: 20-33.

Hartz AJ, Fischer ME, Bril G, Kelber S, Rubley D Jr, Oken B, Rimm AA (1986). The association of obesity with joint pain and osteoarthritis in the HANES data. J Chronic Dis 39 (4): 311-9.

Hasan M, Schuscelt R (2010). Clinical features and pathogenetic mechanisms of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee. BCMJ 52 (8): 393-8.

Heliövaara M (2008). Nivelrikon esiintyvyys ja kustannukset. Duodecim 124 (16): 1869-74.

Heliövaara M, Mäkelä M, Sievers K, Melkas T, Aromaa A, Knekt P, Impivaara O, Aho K, Isomäki H (1993a). Tuki- ja liikuntaelinten sairaudet Suomessa. Helsinki: Kansaneläkelaitoksen julkaisuja AL:35.

Heliövaara M, Mäkelä M, Impivaara O, Knekt P, Aromaa A, Sievers K (1993b) Association of overweight, trauma and workload with coxarthrosis. A health survey of 7217 persons. Acta Orthop Scand 64 (5): 513-18.

Hernandez-Molina G, Reichenbach S, Zhang B, Lavalley M, Felson DT (2008). Effects of therapeutic exercise for hip osteoarthritis pain: results of a meta-analysis. Arthritis Rheum 15; 59 (9): 1221-8.

Hesse S, Werner C, Seibel H, von Frankenberg S, Kappel EM, Kirker S, Käding M (2003). Treadmil training with partial body-weight support after total hip arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 84 (12): 1767-73.

Hinman RS, Heywood SE, Day AR (2007). Aquatic physical therapy for hip and knee osteoarthritis: results of a single-blind randomized controlled trial. Phys Ther 87 (1): 32-43.

Hochberg MC, Altman RD, Brandt KD, Clark BM, Dieppe PA, Griffin MR, Moscowitz RW, Schnitzer TJ (1995). Guidelines for medical management of osteoarthritis. Part I. Osteoarthritis of the hip. Arthritis Rheum 38 (11): 1535-40.

Hochberg MC, Lethbridge-Cejku M, Tobin JD (2004). Bone mineral density and osteoarthritis: data from the Baltimore Longitudinal Study of Aging. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12 (Suppl.A): S45-8.

Hochberg MC, Altman RD, April KT, Benkhalti M, Guyatt G, McGowan J, Towheed T, Welch V, Wells G, Tugwell P (2012). American College of Rheumatology 2012 recommendations for the use of nonpharmacologic and pharmagologic therapies in osteoarthritis of hand and knee. Arthritis Care Res 64 (4): 465-74.

Hochman JR, Gagliese L, Davis AM, Hawker GA (2011). Neuropathic pain symptoms in a community knee OA cohort. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 19 (6): 647-54.

Hoeksma HL, Dekker J, Ronday HK, Heering A, van der Lubbe N, Vel C, Breedveld FC, van den Ende CH (2004). Comparison of manual therapy and exercise therapy in osteoarthritis of the hip: a randomized clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum 15; 51 (5): 722-9.

Hooper M, Moskowitz R (2007). Osteoarthritis: Clinical presentations. In: Osteoarthritis diagnosis and medical / surgical management, 4th ed. pages 139-145.

Hopman-Rock M, Westhoff MH (2000). The effects of a health educational and exercise program for older adults with osteoarthritis for the hip or knee. J Rheumatol 27 (8): 1947-54.

Hujanen T, Kaipainen S, Tuomainen U, Pekurinen M (2008). Healthcare unit costs in Finland in year 2006. Statistical yearbook of the Social Insurance Institution of Finland. Helsinki: Stakes.

Hurley MV (1999). The role of muscle weakness in the pathogenesis of osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 25 (2): 283-98.

Inoue K, Wicart P, Kawasaki T, Huang J, Ushiyama T, Hukuda S, Courpied J (2000). Prevalence of hip osteoarthritis and acetabular dysplacia in French and Japanese adults. Rheumatology (Oxford) 39 (7): 745-8.

Jacobsen S, Sonne-Holm S, Soballe K, Gebuhr P, Lund B (2004). The relationship of hip joint space to self reported hip pain: A survey of 4151 subjects of the Copenhagen City Heart Study. The Osteoarthritis Substudy. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12 (9): 692-7.

Jacobsson B, Dalen N, Tjörnstrand B (1987). Coxarthrosis and labour. Int Orthop 11 (4): 311-13.

Jenkins PJ, Clement ND, Hamilton DF, Gaston P, Patton JT, Howie CR (2013). Predicting the cost-effectiveness of total hip and knee replacement: A health economic analysis. Bone Join J 95-B (1): 115-21.

Jensen LK. Hip osteoarthritis: influence of work with heavy lifting, climbing stairs or ladders, or combining kneeling/sqsuatting with heavy lifting (2008). Occup Environ Med 65 (1): 6-19.

Jiang L, Rong J, Wang Y, Hu F, Bao C, Li X, Zhao Y (2011). The relationship between body mass index and hip osteoarthritis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Joint Bone Spine 78 (2): 150-5.

Jurvelin JS, Nieminen MT, Töyräs J, Risteli J, Laasanen MS, Konttinen YT, Kiviranta I (2008). Fysikaaliset ja kemialliset menetelmät nivelrikon varhaisessa osoittamisessa. Duodecim 124 (16): 1885-96.

Järvholm B, Lewold S, Malchau H, Vingård E (2005). Age, bodyweight, smoking habits and the risk of severe osteoarthritis in hip and knee in men. Eur J Epidemiol 20 (6): 537-42.

Kadaba MP, Ramakrishnan HK, Wootten ME, Gainey J, Gorton G, Cochran GV (1989). Repeatability of kinematic, kinetic and electromyographic data in normal adult gait. J Orthop Res 7 (6): 849-60.

Kaila-Kangas L, Arokoski J, Impivaara O, Viikari-Juntura E, Leino-Arjas P, Luukkonen R, Heliövaara M (2011). Associations of hip osteoarthritis with history of recurrent exposure to manual handling of loads over 20 kg and work participation: a population based study of men and women. Occup Environ Med 68 (10): 734-8.

Karlson EW, Mandl LA, Aweh GN, Sangha O, Liang MH, Grodstein F (2003). Total hip replacement due to osteoarthritis: the importance of age, obesity and other modifiable risk factors. Am J Med 1; 114 (2): 93-8.

Kellgren JH, Lawrence JS (1957). Radiologic assessment of osteoarthrosis. Ann Rheum Dis 16 (4): 494-502.

Kellgren JH, Jeffery MR, Mall J (1963). The epidemiology of chronic rheumatism. Philadelphia: TA Davis.

Kelly BT, Williams RJ 3rd, Philippon MJ (2003). Hip arthroscopy: current indications, treatment options, and management issues. Am J Sports Med 31 (6): 1020-37.

Kerkhof H, Lories L, Meulenbelt I, Jonsdottir I, Valdes AM, Arp P, Ingvarsson T, Jhamai M, Jonsson H, Stolk L, Thorleifsson G, Zhai G, Zhang F, Zhu Y, van der Breggen R, Carr A, Doherty M, Doherty S, Felson DT, Gonzalez A, Halldorsson BV, Hart DJ, Hauksson VB, Hofman A, Ioannidis JP, Kloppenburg M, Lane NE, Loughlin J, Luyten FP, Nevitt MC, Parimi N, Pols HA, Rivadeneira F, Slagboom EP, Styrkársdóttir U, Tsezou A, van de Putte T, Zmuda J, Spector TD, Stefansson K, Uitterlinden AG, van Meurs JB (2010). Meta-analysis of genome-wide association studies confirms a susceptibility locus for knee osteoarthritis on chromosome 7g22. Arthritis Rheum (62) 2: 499-510.

Knuesel PR, Pfirmann CW, Noetzli HP, Dora C, Zanetti M, Hodler J, Kuehn B, Schmid MR. (2004). MR arthrography of the hip: diagnostic performance of a dedicated water-excitation 3D double-echo steady-state sequence to detect cartilage lesions. Am J Roentgenol 183 (6): 1729–35.

Koivumaa-Honkanen H (1998). Life satisfaction as a health predictor. Medical Sciences publication no D143. Kuopio University Publications, Kuopio.

Koskinen A, Juslin S, Nieminen R, MoilanenT, Vuolteenaho K, Moilanen E (2011). Adiponectin associates with markers of cartilage degradation in osteoarthritis and induces production of proinflammatory and catabolic factors through mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways. Arthritis Res Ther 13: R184.

Kujala UM, Kaprio J, Sarna S (1994). Osteoarthritis of weight bearing joints of lower limbs in former elite male athletes. BMJ 22; 308 (6923): 231-4.

Lago F, Gomez R, Conde J, Scotece M, Gomez-Reino JJ, Gualillo O (2011). Cardiometabolic comorbidities and rheumatic diseases: Focus on the role of fat mass and adipokines. Arthritis Care Res 63 (8): 1083-90.

Lakka TA, Venäläinen JM, Rauramaa R, Salonen R, Tuomilehto J, Salonen JT (1994). Relation of leisure time physical activity and cardiorespiratory fitness to the risk of acute myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 2; 330 (22): 1549-54.

Lakka TA, Salonen JT (1997). The physical activity questionnaires of the Kuopio Ischeamic Hearth Disease Study (KIDH). Med Sci Sports Exerc 29 (6) Suppl 46-59.

Lammi M, Arokoski J, Vuolteenaho K, Moilanen E (2008). Nivelrikon välittäjäaineet. Duodecim 124 (16): 1876-84.

Lane NE, Oehlert JW, Bloch DA, Fries JF (1998). The relationship of running to osteoarthritis of the knee and hip and bone mineral density of the lumbar spine: a 9 year longitudinal study. J Rheumatol 25 (2): 334-41.

Lane NE, Lin P, Christiansen L, Gore LR, Williams EN, Hochberg MC, Nevitt MC (2000). Association of mild acetabular dysplasia with an increased risk of incident hip osteoarthritis in elderly white women: the study of osteoporotic fractures. Arthritis Rheum 43 (2): 400-4.

Lanyon P, Muir K, Doherty S, Doherty M (2000). Assessment of a genetic contribution to osteoarthritis of the hip: sibling study. BMJ 11; 321 (7270): 1179-83.

Lau EC, Cooper C, Lam D, Chan VN, Tsang KK, Sham A (2000). Factors associated with osteoarthritis of the hip and knee in Hong Kong Chinese: obesity, joint injury, and occupational activities. Am J Epidemiol 1; 152 (9): 855-62.

Laupacis A, Bourne R, Rorabeck C, Feeny D, Wong C, Tugwell P, Leslie K, Bullas R (1993). The effect of elective total hip replacement on health-related quality of life. J Bone Joint Surg Am 75 (11): 1619-26.

Lawrence RC, Hochberg MC, Kelsey JL, McDuffie FC, Medsger TA Jr, Felts WR, Shculman LE (1989). Estimates of the prevalence of selected arthritic and musculoskeletal diseases in the United States. J Rheumatol 16 (4): 427-41.

Leite A, Costa A, Lima B, Padilha A, Albuquerque E, Margues C (2011). Comorbidities in patients with osteoarthritis: frequency and impact on pain and physical function. Rev Bras Reumatol 51 (2): 118-23.

Lequesne MG, Samson M (1991). Indices of severity in osteoarthritis for weight bearing joints. J Rheumatol Suppl 27 (2): 16-8.

Lequesne MG, Malghem J, Dion E (2004). The normal hip joint space: variations in width, shape, and architecture on 223 pelvic radiographs. Ann Rheum Dis 63 (9): 1145-51.

Lesher JM, Dreyfuss P, Hager N, Kaplan M, Furman M (2008). Hip joint pain referral Patterns: a descriptive study. Pain Med 9 (1): 22-5.

Lievense A, Bierma-Zeinstra S, Verhagen A, Verhaar J, Koes B (2001). Influence of work on the development of osteoarthritis of the hip: a systematic review. J Rheumatol 28 (11): 2520-8.

Lievense A, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Verhagen AP, van Baar ME, Verhaar JA, Koes BW (2002). Influence of obesity on the development of osteoarthritis of a hip: a systematic review. Rheumatol 41 (10): 1155-62.

Lievense AM, Bierma-Zeinstra SM, Verhagen AP, Bernsen RM, Verhaar JA, Koes BW (2003). Influence of sporting activities on the development of osteoarthritis of the hip: a systematic review. Arthritis Rheum 15; 49 (2): 228-36.

Lievense AM, Koes BW, Verhaar JA, Bohnen AM, Bierma-Zeinstra SM (2007). Prognosis of hip pain in general practice: a prospective followup study. Arthritis Rheum 15; 57 (8): 1368-74.

Liikavainio T, Arokoski J (2009). The role of muscle function in knee and hip osteoarthritis. Eur Musculoskeletal Rev 4: 11-14.

Lin SY, Davey RC, Cochrane T (2004). Community rehabilitation for older adults with osteoarthritis of the lower limb: a controlled clinical trial. Clin Rehabil 18 (1): 92-101.

Liu B, Bakwill A, Banks E, Cooper C, Green J, Beral V (2007). Relationship of height, weight and body mass index to the risk of hip and knee replacements in middle-aged women. Rheumatology (Oxford) 46 (5): 861-7.

Loeser RF, Goldring SR, Scanzello CR Goldring MB (2012). Osteoarthritis. A disease joint as an organ. Arthritis Rheum 64 (4): 1697-707.

Lohmander LS, Gerhardsson de Verdier M, Rollof J, Nilsson PM, Engström G (2009). Incidence of severe knee and hip osteoarthritis in relation to different measures of body mass: a population-based prospective cohort study. Ann Rheum Dis 68 (4): 490-6.

MacGregor AJ, Antoniades L, Matson M, Andrew T, Spector TD (2000). The genetic contribution to radiographic hip osteoarthritis in women: results of a classic twin study. Arthritis Rheum 43 (11): 2410-16.

Marks R, Allegrante JP (2002). Comorbid disease profiles of adults with end-stage hip osteoarthritis. Med Sci Monit 8 (4): CR 305-9.

McCormack PL (2011). Celecoxib: a review of its use for symptomatic relief in the treatment of osteoarthritis, rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis. Drugs 24; 71 (18): 2457-89.

McDonald S, Hetrick S, Green S (2004). Pre operative education for hip or knee replacement. The Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (Issue 1): CD003526. McNair PJ, Simmonds MA, Boocock MG, Larmer PJ (2009). Exercise therapy for the management of osteoarthritis of the hip joint: a systematic review. Arthritis Res Ther 11 (3): R98.

McWilliams DF, Doherty SA, Jenkins WD, Maciewich RA, Muir KR, Zhang W, Doherty M (2010). Mild acetabular dysplasia and risk of osteoarthritis of the hip: a case-control study. Ann Rheum Dis 69 (10): 1774-8.

Mease PJ, Hanna S, Frakes EP, Altman RD (2011). Pain mechanisms in osteoarthritis: understanding the role of central pain and current approach to its treatment. J Rheumatol 38 (8): 1546-51.

Michaelsson K, Byberg L, Ahlbom A, Melhus H, Farahmand BY (2011). Risk of severe knee and hip osteoarthritis in relation to level of physical exercise: a prospective cohort study of long-distance skiers in Sweden. PloS One 30; 6 (3): e18339.

Millis MB, Murphy SB, Poss R (1996). Osteotomies about the hip for the prevention and treatment of osteoarthritis. Instr Course Lect 45: 209-26.

Minor MA (1999). Exercise in the treatment of osteoarthritis. Rheum Dis Clin North Am 25(2): 397-415.

Mizner RL, Petterson SC, Stevens JE, Vandenborne K, Snyder-Mackler L (2005). Early quadriceps strength loss after total knee arthroplasty. The contributions of muscle atrophy and failure of voluntary muscle activation. J Bone Joint Surg Am 87 (5): 1047-53.

Mäkelä M, Heliövaara M, Sievers K, Knekt P, Maatela J, Aromaa A (1993). Musculoskeletal disorders as determinants of disability in Finns aged 30 years or more. J Clin Epidemiol 46 (6): 549-59.

Mälkiä E, Impivaara O, Maatela J, Aromaa A, Heliövaara M, Knekt P (1988). Suomalaisten aikuisten fyysinen aktiivisuus. Turku, Finland: Kansaneläkelaitoksen sosiaaliturvan tutkimuslaitos.

Nakanishi K, Tanaka H, Nishii T, Masuhara K, Narumi Y, Nakamura H (1999). MR evaluation of the articular cartilage of the femoral head during traction: correlation with resected femoral head. Acta Radiol 40 (1): 60-3.

Neumann E, Frommer K, Vasile M, Muller-Lander U (2011). Adipocytokines as driving forces in rheumatoid arthritis and related inflammatory diseases? Arthritis Rheum 63: 1159-69.

Nevitt MC, Cummings SR, Lane NE, Hochberg MC, Scott JC, Pressman AR, Genant HK, Cauley JA (1996). Association of estrogen replacement therapy with the risk of osteoarthritis of the hip in elderly white women: Study of Osteoporotic Fractures Research Group. Arch Intern Med 14; 156 (18): 2073-80.

Nevitt MC, Xu L, Zhang Y, Lui LY, Yu W, Lane NE, Qin M, Hochberg MC, Cummings SR, Felson DT (2002). Very low prevalence of hip osteoarthritis among Chinese elderly in Bejing, China, compared with whites in the United States. Arthritis Rheum 46 (7): 1773-9.

Nuki G, Salter D (2007). The impact of mechanical stress on the pathophysiology of osteoarthritis. In: Sharma L, Berenbaum F, editors. Osteoarthritis: A Companion to Rheumatology. Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier, pages 33-52.

Oliveria SA, Felson DT, Reed JI, Cirillo PA, Walker AM (1995). Incidence of symptomatic hand, hip and knee osteoarthritis among patients in a health maintenance organization. Arthritis Rheum 38 (8): 1134-41.

Ollikainen M (2008). Mikkelin kaupungin terveyskeskuksen avofysioterapiapalvelun tuntiperusteinen hinta (Supervised group exercise therapy costs in the Mikkeli Health Center, Mikkeli, Finland). Mikkeli Health Center.

Olsen O, Vingård E, Köster M, Alfredsson L (1994). Etiologic fractions for physical work load, sports and overweight in the occurrence of coxarthrosis. Scand J Work Environ Health 20 (3): 184-8.

Peloquin L, Bravo G, Gauthier P, Lacombe G, Billiard JS (1999). Effects of a Cross-Training Exercise Program in Persons with Osteoarthritis of the Knee A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Clin Rheumatol 5 (3): 126-36.

Pisters MF, Veenhof C, Schellevis FG, DeBakker DH, Dekker J (2010). Long-term effectiveness of exercise therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a randomized controlled trial comparing two different physical therapy interventions. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 18 (8): 1019-26.

Pisters MF, Veenhof C, van Meeteren NL, Ostelo RW, de Bakker DH, Schellewis FG, Dekker J (2007). Long-term effectiveness of exercise therapy in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a systematic review. Arthritis Rheum 15; 57 (7): 1245-53.

Podsiadlo D, Richardson S (1991). The Timed Up & Go: A test of basic functional mobility for frail elderly parsons. J Am Geriatric Soc 39 (2): 142-8.

Radin EL, Rose RM (1986). Role of subchondral bone in the initiation and progression of cartilage damage. Clin Orthop Relat Res 213 (10): 34-40.

Radin EL, Burr DB, Caterson B, Fyhrie D, Brown TD, Boyd RD (1991). Mechanical determinants of osteoarthrosis. Semin Arthritis Rheum 21 (3 Suppl 2): 12-21.

Rasch A, Bystrom AH, Dalen N, Berg HE (2007). Reduced muscle radiological density, cross-sectional area, and strength of major hip and knee muscles in 22 patients with hip osteoarthritis. Acta Orthop 78 (4): 505-10.

Ravaud P, Giraudeau B, Logeart I, Larguier JS, Rolland D, Treves R, Euller-Ziegler L, Bannwarth B, Dougados M (2004). Management of osteoarthritis with an unsupervised home based exercise programme and/or patient administered assessment tools. A cluster randomized controlled trial with a 2x2 factorial design. Ann Rheum Dis 63 (6): 703-8.

Reginster JY(2002). The prevalence and burden of arthritis. Rheumatology 41 (Suppl.1): 3-6.

Rejman M, Hazes JM, Pols HA, Bernsen RM, Koes BW, Bierma-Zeinstra SM (2004). Validity and reliability of three definitions of hip osteoarthritis: cross sectional and longitudinal approach. Ann Rheum Dis 63 (11): 1427-33.

Rejman M, Hazes JM, Pols HA, Koes BW, Bierma-Zeinstra SM (2005). Acetabular dysplasia predicts incident osteoarthritis of the hip. Arthritis Rheum 52 (3): 787-93.

O'Reilly S, Doherty M. Signs, symptoms and laboratory tests. 2003. In: Brandt KD, Doherty M, Lohmander LS (eds). Osteoarthritis, 2nd ed. New York: Oxford UniversityPress, pages 197-210.

O'Reilly S, Muir KR, Doherty M (1998). Knee pain and disability In the Nottingham Community: association with poor health status and psychological distress. Br J Rheumatol 37 (8): 870-3.

Remes V, Peltola M, Häkkinen U, Kröger H, Leppilahti J, Linna M, Malmivaara A, Mäkelä K, Nelimarkka O, Parviainen I, Seitsalo S, Vuorinen J. (2007). Perfect – Tekonivelkirurgia. Lonkan ja polven tekonivelkirurgian kustannukset ja vaikuttavuus. Helsinki: Stakes.

Rene J, Weinberg M, Mazzuca SA, Brandt KD, Katz BP (1992). Reduction of joint pain in patients with knee osteoarthritis who have received monthly telephone calls from lay personnel and whose medical treatment regimens have remained stable. Arthritis Rheum 35 (5): 511-5.

Robertson S, Frost H, Doll H, O'Connor JJ (1998). Leg extensor power and quadriceps strength: an assessment of repeatability in patients with osteoarthritic knees. Clin Rehabil 12 (2): 120-6.

Robinson VA, Brosseau L, Peterson J, Shea BJ, Tugwell P, Wells G (2001). Therapeutic ultrasound for the osteoarthritis of the knee. The Cochrane database of systematic reviews. Issue (3) Art. No CD003132.

Roddy E, Zhang W, Doherty M, Arden NK, Barlow J, Birrel F, Carr A, Chakravarty K, Dickson J, Hay E, Hosie G, Hurley M, Jordan KM, Mc Carthy C, Mc Murdo M, Mockett S, O'Reilly S, Peat G, Pendleton A, Richards S (2005). Evidence-based recommendations for the role of exercise in the management of osteoarthritis of the hip or knee. The MOVE consensus. Rheumatology 44 (1): 67-73.

Rogind H, Bibow-Nielsen B, Jensen B, Moller HC, Frimodt-Moller H, Bliddal H (1998). The effects of a physical training program on patients with osteoarthritis of the knees. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 79 (11): 1421-7.

Roos EM (2005). Joint injury causes knee osteoarthritis in young adults. Curr Opin Rheumatol 17 (2): 195-200.

van Saase JL, van Romunde LK, Cats A, Vandenbroucke JP, Valkenburg HA (1989). Epidemiology of osteoarthritis: Zoetermeer survey. Comparision of radiological osteoarthritis in Dutch population with that in 10 other populations. Ann Rheum Dis 48 (4): 271-80.

Sashika H, Matsuba Y, Watanabe Y (1996). Home program of physical therapy: effect on disabilities of patients with total hip arthroplasty. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 77 (3): 273-7.

Sandmark H, Hogstedt C, Lewold S, Vingård E (1999). Osteoarthrosis of the knee in men and women in association with overweight, smoking, and hormone therapy. Ann Rheum Dis 58 (3): 151-5.

Saville PD, Dickson J (1968). Age and weight in osteoarthritis of the hip. Arthritis Rheum 11 (5): 635-44.

Sharma L, Berenbaum F (2007). Osteoarthritis: A companion to rheumatology. 1st ed. Philadelpia: Mosby, pages 15-28.

Schmidt M, Notzli HP, Zanetti M, Wyss TF, Hodler J (2003). Cartilage lesions in the hip: diacnostic effectiveness of MR arthrography. Radiology 226 (2): 382-6.

Schäfer T, Krummenauer F, Mettelsiefen J, Kirschner S, Gunther KP (2010). Social, educational, and occupational predictors of total hip replacement outcome. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 18 (8): 1036-42.

Spector TD, Hart DJ, Doyle DV (1994). Incidence and progression of osteoarthritis in women with unilateral knee disease in the general population: the effect of obesity. Ann Rheum Dis 53 (9): 565-8.

Spector TD, Harris PA, Hart DJ, Cicuttini FM, Nandra D, Etherington J, Wolman RL, Doyle DV (1996). Risk of osteoarthritis associated with long-term weight-bearing sports. Arthritis Rheum 39 (6): 988-95.

Spector TD, Nandra D, Hart DJ, Doyle DV (1997). Is hormone replacement therapy protective for hand and knee osteoarthritis in women? The Chingford Study. Ann Rheum Dis 56 (7): 432-34.

Spector TD, MacGregor AJ (2004). Risk factors for osteoarthritis: genetics. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 12 Suppl A: S39-44.

Strand LI, Wie SL (1999). The sock test for evaluating activity limitation in patients with musculoskeletal pain. Phys Ther 79 (2): 136-45.

Suetta C, Aagaard P, Magnusson SP, Andersen LL, Sipilä S, Rosted A, Jacobsen AK, Duus B Kjaer M (2007). Muscle size, neuromuscular activation, and rapid force characteristics in elderly men and women: effects of unilateral long-term disuse due to hip osteoarthritis. J Appl Physiol 102 (3): 942-8.

Summers MN, Haley WE, Reveille JD, Alarcon GS (1988). Radiographic assessment and psychologic variables as predictors of pain and functional impairment in osteoarthritis of the knee or hip. Arthritis Rheum 31 (2): 204-9.

Sun Y, Gunther KP, Brenner H (1997). Reliability of radiographic grading of osteoarthritis of the hip and knee. Scand J Rheumatol 26 (3): 155-65.

Szebenyi B, Hollander AP, Dieppe P, Quilty B, Duddy J, Clarke S, Kirwan JR (2006). Association between pain, function and radiographic features in osteoarthritis of the knee. Arthritis Rheum 54 (1): 230-5.

Tak E, Staats P, Van Hespen A, Hopman-Rock M (2005). The effects of an exercise program for older adults with osteoarthritis of the hip. J Rheumatol 32 (6): 1106-13.

Taylor HL, Jacobs DR Jr, Schucker B, Knudsen J, Leon AS, Debacker G (1978). A questionnaire for the assessment of leisure time physical activities. J Chronic Dis 31: 741-55.

Thelin A, Holmberg S (2007). Hip osteoarthritis in a rural male population: a prospective population-based register study. Am J Ind Med 50 (8): 604-7.

Thumboo J, Chew LH, Lewin-Koh SC (2002). Socioeconomic and psychosocial factors influence pain or physical function in Asian patients with knee or hip osteoarthritis. Ann Rheum Dis 61 (11) 1017-20.

Tepper S, Hochberg MC (1993). Factors associated with hip osteoarthritis: data from the First National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES-I). Am J Epidemiol 15; 137 (10): 1081-8.

Toivanen AT, Heliövaara M, Impivaara O, Arokoski JP, Knekt P, Lauren H, Kröger H(2010). Obesity, physically demanding work and traumatic knee injury are major risk factors for knee osteoarthritis: a population-based study with a follow-up of 22 years. Rheumatology (Oxford) 49 (2): 308-14.

Tubach F, Ravaud P, Baron G, Falissard B, Logeart I, Bellamy N, Bombardier C, Felson D, Hochberg M, van der Heijde, Dougados M (2005). Evaluation of clinically relevant changes in patient reported outcomes in knee and hip osteoarthritis: the minimal clinically important improvement. Ann Rheum Dis 64 (1): 29-33.

Tuominen U, Blom M, Hirvonen J, Seitsalo S, Lehto M, Paavolainen P, Hietaniemi K, Risanen P, Sintonen H (2007). The effect of comorbidities on health related quality of life in patients placed on waiting list for total joint replacement. Health Qual Life Outcomes 15; 5: 16.

Tveit M, Rosengren BE, Nilsson JÅ, Karlsson MK (2012). Former male elite athletes have higher prevalence of osteoarthritis and arthroplasty in the hip and knee than expected. Am J Sports Med 40 (3): 527-33.

Typpö T (1985). Osteoarthritis of the hip: radiologic findings and etiology. Ann Chir Gynaecol Suppl 201: 1-38.

Valdes AM, Spector TD (2011). Genetic epidemiology of hip and knee osteoarthritis. Nat Rev Rheumatol 71 (1): 23-32.

Valdes A, Loughlin J, Timms K, vanMeurs J, Southam L, Wilson S, Doherty S, Lories RJ, Luyten FP, Gutin A, Abkevich V, Ge D, Hofman A, Uitterlinden AG, Hart DJ, Zhang F, Zhai G, Egli RJ, Doherty M, Lanchbury J, Spector TD (2008). Genome-wide association scan identifies a prostaglandin endoperioxide synthese 2 variant involved in risk of knee osteoarthritis. Am J Hum Genet 82 (6): 1231-40.

Vasara AI, Nieminen MT, Jurvelin JS, Peterson L, Lidahl A, Kiviranta I (2005). Indentation stiffness of repair tissue after autologus chondrocyte transplantation. Clin Orthop Relat Res 433: 233-42.

Veenhof C, Koke AJ, Dekker J, Oostendorp RA, Bijlsma JW, van Tulder MW, van den Ende CH (2006). Effectiveness of behavioral graded activity in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip and/or knee: a randomized clinical trial. Arthritis Rheum 15; 55 (6): 925-34.

Veenhof C, Huisman PA, Barten JA, Takken T, Pisters MF (2012). Factors associated with physical activity in patients with osteoarthritis of the hip or knee: a systematic review. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 20 (1): 6-12.

Vignon E, Valat JP, Rossignol M, Avouac B, Rozenberg S, Thoumie P, Avouac J, Nordin M, Hilliquin P (2006). Osteoarthritis of the knee and hip and activity: a systematic international review and synthesis (OASIS). Joint Bone Spine 73 (4): 442-55.

Vingård E (1991). Overweight predisposes to coxarthrosis. Body mass index studied in 239 males with hip arthroplasty. Acta Orthop Scand 62 (2): 106-9.

Vingård E, Alfredsson L, Goldie I, Hogsteldt C (1991). Occupation and osteoarthrosis of the hip and knee: a register-based cohort study. Int J Epidemiol 20 (4): 1025-31.

Vingård E, Alfredsson L, Malchau H (1997). Osteoarthrosis of the hip in women and its relation to physical load at work and in the home. Ann Rheum Dis 56 (5): 293-8.

Vuolteenaho K, Koskinen A, Kukkonen M, Niemitukia R, Päivärinta U, Moilanen T, Moilanen E (2009). Leptin enhances synthesis of peoinflammatory mediators in human osteoarthritic cartilage-mediator role of NO in leptin-induced PGE2, IL-6, and IL-8 production. Mediators Inflamm 2009: 345838.

Wang AW, Gilbey HJ, Ackland TR (2002). Perioperative exercise programs improve early return of ambulatory function after total hip arthroplasty: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 81 (11): 801-6.

Wang Y, Simpson JA, Wluka AE, Teichtahl AJ, English DR, Giles GG, Graves S, Cicuttini FM (2009). Relationship between body adiposity measures and risk of primary knee and hip replacement for osteoarthritis: a prospective cohort study. Arthritis Res Ther 11 (2): R31.

Watanabe W, Itoi E, Yamada S (2002). Early MRI findings of rapidly destructive coxarthrosis. Skeletal Radiol 31 (1): 35-8.

Watson MJ (2002). Refining the ten-metre walking test for use with neurologically impaired people. Physiotherapy 88 (7): 386-97.

Ware JE Jr, Sherbourne CD (1992). The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 30 (6): 473-83.

Weinberg M, Tierney WM, Cowper PA, Katz BP, Booher PA (1993). Cost effectiveness of increased telephone contact for patients with osteoarthritis. A randomized controlled trial. Ann Rheum 36 (2): 243-6.

Wernbom M, Augustsson J, Thomee R (2007). The influence of frequency, intensity, volume and mode of strenght training on whole muscle cross-sectional area in humans. Sports Med 37 (3): 225-64.

Wiklund I, Romanus B (1991). A comparison of quality of life before and after arthroplasty in patients who had arthrosis of the hip joint. J Bone Joint Surg Am 73 (5): 765-9.

Williams A, Manias E, Walker R (2008). Interventions to improve medication adherence in people with multiple chronic conditions: a systematic review. J Adv Nurs 63 (2): 132-43.

Wright AA, Cook C, Abbott JH (2009). Variables associated with the progression of hip osteoarthritis: a systematic review. Arthritis Rheum 15; 61 (7): 925-36.

Yoshimura N, Cambell L, Hashimoto T, Kinoshita H, Okayasu T, Wilman C, Coggon D, Croft P, Cooper C (1998). Acetabular dysplasia and hip osteoarthritis in Britain and Japan. Br J Rheumatol 37 (11): 1193-7.

Zhang W, Doherty M, Arden N, Bannwarth B, Bijlsma J, Gunther KP, Hauselman HJ, Herrero-Beaumont G, Jordan K, Kaklamanis P, Leeb B, Lequesne L, Lohmander S, Mazieres B, Martin-Mola E, Pavelka K, Pendleton A, Punzi L, Swoboda B, Varatojo R, Verbruggen G, Zimmermann-Gorska I, Dougados M (2005). EULAR evidence based recommendations for the management of hip osteoarthritis: report of a task force of the EULAR Standing Committee for International Clinical Studies Including Therapeutics (ESCISIT). Ann Rheum. Ds 64 (5): 669-81.

Zhang W, Doherty M (2006). EULAR recommendations for knee and hip osteoarthritis: a critique of the methodology. Br J Sports Med 40 (8): 664–9.

Zhang W, Moskowitz RW, Nuki G, Abramsson S, Altman RD, Arden NK, Bierma-Zeinstra S, Brandt KD, Croft P, Doherty M, Dougados M, Hochberg M, Hunter DJ, Kwoh K, Lohmander LS, Tugwell P (2008). OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis: part II: OARSI evidence-based, expert consensus quidelines. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 16 (12): 137-62.

Zhang W, Nuki G, Moskowitz RW, Abramsson S, Altman RD, Arden NK, Bierma-Zeinstra S, Brandt KD, Croft P, Doherty M, Dougados M, Hochberg M, Hunter DJ, Kwoh K, Lohmander LS, Tugwell P (2010). OARSI recommendations for the management of hip and knee osteoarthritis: part III: Changes in evidence following systematic cumulative update of research published through January 2009. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 18 (4): 476-99.

Zabinski RA, Burke TA, Johnson J, Lavoie F, Fitzsimon C, Tretiak R, Chancellor JV (2001). An economic model for determining the costs and consequences of using various treatment alternatives for the management of arthritis in Canada. Pharmacoeconimics 19 (Suppl. 1): 49-58.

RIIKKA ELINA JUHAKOSKI Hip Osteoarthritis; Risk Factors and Effects of Exercise Therapy



The causes of hip osteoarthritis (OA) are heterogeneous with genetic, environmental and lifestyle-related risk factors influencing the development of the disease. Hip OA causes pain and disability and reduces the quality of life. In this thesis, risk factors for hip OA and effects of exercise therapy in hip OA were determined. Heavy manual work and injuries increased the risk of hip OA. Exercise did not effect on pain, but slightly improved function.



Publications of the University of Eastern Finland Dissertations in Health Sciences

ISBN 978-952-61-1103-2